
1

Agenda
Contact Officer: Nicola Meurer, Democratic Services Officer

Tel: 01235 422523

E-mail: nicola.meurer@southandvale.gov.uk

Date: 3 March 2017

Website: http://www.southoxon.gov.uk

A MEETING OF THE

Planning Committee
WILL BE HELD ON MONDAY 13 MARCH 2017 AT 6.00 PM

FOUNTAIN CONFERENCE CENTRE, HOWBERY PARK, BENSON LANE, 
CROWMARSH GIFFORD, OX10 8BA

Members of the Committee:
Felix Bloomfield (Chairman)
Joan Bland
Margaret Davies
Anthony Dearlove
Jeannette Matelot

Toby Newman (Vice-
Chairman)
David Nimmo-Smith
Richard Pullen

David Turner
Margaret Turner
Ian White

Substitutes
Charles Bailey
Stefan Gawrysiak

Stephen Harrod
Lorraine Hillier
Elaine Hornsby

Imran Lokhon
Sue Lawson

Alternative formats of this publication are available on request.  These include 
large print, Braille, audio, email and easy read. For this or any other special 
requirements (such as access facilities) please contact the officer named on this 
agenda.  Please give as much notice as possible before the meeting.

MARGARET REED

Head of Legal and Democratic Services

Public Document Pack



2

Map

A map showing the location of Howbery Park is attached, as is a plan showing the 
location of the Fountain Conference Centre on the Howbery Park site.

1 Apologies  

To record apologies for absence and the attendance of substitute members.  

2 Declarations of disclosable pecuniary interest  

To receive any declarations of disclosable pecuniary interests in respect of items on 
the agenda for this meeting.   

3 Urgent business and chairman's announcements  

To receive notification of any matters which the chairman determines should be 
considered as urgent business and the special circumstances which have made the 
matters urgent, and to receive any announcements from the chairman.  

4 Applications deferred or withdrawn  

5 Proposals for site visit reports  

6 Public participation  

To receive any statements from members of the public who have registered to 
speak on planning applications which are being presented to this committee 
meeting.  

Development control applications

Planning applications - background papers and additional 
information

All the background papers with the exception of those papers marked 
exempt/confidential (eg those held in enforcement files) used in the reports in this 
agenda are held in the application file (working file) referenced by the application 
number. 

Any additional information received following the publication of this agenda will be 
reported and summarised at the meeting.



3

Summary index of applications

Site Address Proposal Application No Page

7 Land North of 
Littleworth 
Road, Benson  

Erection of 187 dwellings plus 
formation of vehicular access and car 
parking. Provision of landscaping and 
open space and other associated 
work.

P16/S3611/FUL 9 - 30

8 Bloom 
Buildings, West 
End, Cholsey, 
OX10 9LR  

Demolition of a range of existing B8 
storage buildings and the erection of 
five dwellings with associated covered 
and open parking and amenity space 
provision.

P16/S4177/FUL 31 - 54

9 14 Ilges Lane, 
Cholsey, OX10 
9NX  

Demolition of existing bungalow and 
erection of one pair of semi-detached 
dwellings and one detached dwelling 
with shared access.

P16/S4236/O 55 - 72

10 6 Kentwood 
Close, Cholsey, 
OX10 9NQ  

Erection of a three-bedroom detached 
dwelling.

P17/S0043/FUL 73 - 90

11 78 St Andrews 
Road, Henley 
on Thames, 
RG9 1JE  

Single and two storey extensions and 
general alterations.

P17/S0279/HH 91 - 100

12 Land adjacent 
to 52 
Broadwaters 
Avenue, Thame, 
OX9 2DU  

Construction of a new one-bed 
attached dwelling house.

P16/S3682/FUL 101 - 
110



4



B4009 Watlington
M40 J6

River Tham
es

Wallingford

Crowmarsh
Gi�ord

Benson

A4074

A4074

A4
07

4

A4074

A4130

A
4130

A4130

W
ALL

IN
GFO

RD
 R

OAD A
329

WANTAGE ROAD

A4130

CASTLE STREET

READ
IN

G
 RO

AD

HITHERCROFT RD

THE STREET

BE
N

SO
N

 L
AN

E

Brightwell

A4074 Reading

A4130 Didcot

A4074 Oxford

Centre for Ecology 
& Hydrology

South Oxfordshire 
District Council

Birmingham airport

London Heathrow

A4130 Henley
  M40 J4   

North

Sat Nav: OX10 8BA

P
age 5



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Bus stop

finding your w
ay around 

how
bery park

Wallingford 
Reading A4074

Oxford A4074



Kestrel House

Red Kite House

Ship Simulation Centre

The Innovation Centre

Flume
Lambourn







North 
gate

South gate: 
Main entrance

Froude Modelling Hall

Manor House

Fountain

Stables

Thames 

Boat House

Evenlode
Annex

Fountain Conference Centre

Isis

HR Wallingford
Howbery Park
Wallingford
Oxfordshire OX10 8BA
United Kingdom

T +44 (0)1491 835381
F +44 (0)1491 832233
info@hrwallingford.com

www.hrwallingford.com

P
age 7



T
his page is intentionally left blank



South Oxfordshire District Council –Planning Committee – 13 March 2017

APPLICATION NO. P16/S3611/FUL
APPLICATION TYPE FULL APPLICATION
REGISTERED 9.11.2016
PARISH BENSON
WARD MEMBER(S) Felix Bloomfield

Richard Pullen
APPLICANT CALA Management Ltd
SITE Land North of Littleworth Road, Benson
PROPOSAL Erection of 187 dwellings plus formation of vehicular 

access and car parking. Provision of landscaping 
and open space and other associated work. 

AMENDMENTS As clarified by revised tracking details shown on 
drawing no8160737-6201A and PL.02C (BCP 
details) accompanying Agent's email dated 7 
December 2016 and as amended by drawing no 
PL02 rev E, PL48 rev A, PL49 rev A, PL68 rev A, 
PL76 rev A, PL78 rev A, PL82 and 83 rev A, PL97 
rev A, PL100C, PL101 rev A, PL102 rev A, PL103 
rev A, PL104 rev A, PL105 rev A, PL06 rev A and 
engineering drawings accompanying Agents email 
dated 3 February 2017. As further revised by 
updated schedule of materials received 21 February 
2016.

GRID REFERENCE 461586/191972
OFFICER Sharon Crawford

1.0 INTRODUCTION
1.1 The application has been referred to the Planning Committee at the discretion of the 

Planning Manager.

1.2 The site is some 7.8 hectares in size. The northern boundary of the Benson 
Conservation Area runs along the southern edge of Littleworth Road to the south of 
the site. The built up area of Benson lies beyond the site to the east and southern 
boundaries. To the north and west is open countryside, with the McDonald’s Services 
Station to the west beyond the B4009 which links to the A4074. 

1.3 The site is identified on the Ordnance Survey Extract attached at Appendix 1.

2.0 PROPOSAL
2.1 The application seeks full planning permission for a residential development of 187 

dwellings along with access, landscape, open space and other associated work. 
The mix of housing is as follows; 
• Open Market Housing: 112 units 
• Affordable Housing: 75 units 
• Total: 187 units

The proposed housing mix includes a range of dwelling types from 1 bed flats to 5 bed 
family homes. The dwelling heights are mostly 2 storey and 2.5 storey at key locations 
to add variety and visual interest to the street scene. The density is circa 23 dwellings 
per hectare

Page 9

Agenda Item 7

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P16/S3611/FUL


South Oxfordshire District Council –Planning Committee – 13 March 2017

2.2 The application submission includes the following documents;

• Design and Access Statement 
• Agricultural Land Classification Report 
• Arboricultural Report 
• Archaeological Update Report 
• Heritage Statement 
• LVIA 
• Statement of Community Involvement and Sustainability Assessment (included 

within this Planning Statement) 
• Habitat Survey 
• Transport Assessment and Travel Plan 
• Flood Risk Assessment

Additional information has also been submitted in tracking for waste vehicles. Amended 
plans have been submitted to overcome the concerns of the urban design officer.

2.3 Reduced copies of the plans accompanying the application are attached at Appendix 
2. Full copies of the plans and consultation responses are available for inspection on 
the Council’s website at www.southoxon.gov.uk

3.0 SUMMARY OF CONSULTATIONS & REPRESENTATIONS
Full responses can be found on the Council’s website but are summarised below.

3.1 Benson Parish 
Council 

Original plans. It was understood by the Committee that an amended 
application and set of plans was due. However, Members unanimously 
resolved to object to the current application on the grounds of: 

i. Retirement bungalows should not be removed 
ii. ii. 3 storey flats overlook current residents and 2.5 storey 

dwellings overlook Littleworth Road 
iii. E.I.A should be required 
iv. Plots 100, 106, 112 have an overbearing impact on 

properties in Sunnyside 
v. Open space is on the outside of the development with none 

centrally 
vi. Lack of car parking space.

Amended plans. No objection. At the Benson Parish Council Meeting 
on 23rd February 2017, members discussed the planning application; 
8 members had no objections, 1 member objected to the application 
and there were 2 abstentions.

OCC 
(highways)

The original highway objection has been removed as a result of 
negotiations on the S278 scheme. 
No objection subject to conditions.

OCC 
(Archaeology)

No objection subject to conditions.

Conservation 
Officer

This application is for development on the land to the north of 
Littleworth Road in Benson. There is an extant scheme for 
development here. The site is adjacent to the designated conservation 
area although there are no designated heritage assets on the site. 
This submission differs from the approved scheme in that the number 
of proposed units has increased and the position of buildings along the 

Page 10

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/


South Oxfordshire District Council –Planning Committee – 13 March 2017

eastern end of Littleworth Road have been altered. This alteration 
appears to align with the slightly higher density of existing 
development at the eastern end of Littleworth Road. It appears from 
the proposed site layout plan that the areas of open space and small 
view cones from the Littleworth Road that were identified in the appeal 
scheme as positive have been retained. Overall, the alterations from 
the approved scheme do not alter the level of harm that the previous 
scheme was judged to have. As such, I consider the heritage impact 
to be equal to the extant approved scheme. Recommendation: If you 
are minded to approve this application, any relevant conditions not 
already discharged should be carried over to this application.

Environmental 
Protection

I have strong concerns that the noise from the nearby RAF Benson 
airbase will have a detrimental impact on the amenity of the proposed 
housing project. However, planning permission already exists on the 
site for new residential development and the impacts on this proposal 
are no worse. In the circumstances, a condition should be applied to 
the development seeking an additional report in respect of noise and 
mitigation measures.

Defence 
Infrastructure 
Organisation 

The application site falls within the statutory birdstrike safeguarding 
zone surrounding RAF Benson. Therefore, DIO Safeguarding 
maintains no objection to this application subject to design 
requirements in respect of open water on the site.

Monson 
(drainage)

Thames Water advice should be sought in respect of foul drainage. 
Surface water drainage should also be submitted for approval.

Community 
Infrastructure 
Officer

Standing advice on S106 and CIL contributions.

Waste 
Management 
Officer

Standing advice on waste and bins.

Neighbours
Objections 
(38)

This is an unwelcome and unnecessary increase in total units on the 
site. The village cannot sustain this size of development.
Strong objections to this new application on two fronts. Firstly, that the 
new application increases the number of houses but reduces the 
provision of lower cost affordable housing and the provision of 
retirement houses.
The number of one and two bedroom houses has been greatly 
reduced and replaced by more 3 and 4 bedroom properties.
The size of this development and the others that have planning or are 
being proposed do not take into account the infrastructure of the 
village. Concerns about the sewer drainage. The drain serving 
Littleworth Road is already inadequate.
The design of the 3 storey blocks will appear far short of the historic 
quality set by the few and very fine 3-storey historic buildings in the 
core of the village. There are none elsewhere. They will just appear as 
unusually tall, large and out-of-keeping, and will detract from the 
distinctive low and rural character of the village.
In considering the rural character of the village and its landscape 
setting, existing developments tail down in height towards the edge of 

Page 11



South Oxfordshire District Council –Planning Committee – 13 March 2017

the built-up area and for the most part present simple outlines to the 
adjacent fields, with bungalows or plain unbroken roof pitches over 
two-storey buildings. This allows a relatively soft and unassertive 
edge, and the village appears to lie low and quietly in the surrounding 
rural landscape. The rear boundaries of Sunnyside, and its low 
bungalows at the corners, conform with this pattern. By contrast the 
submitted scheme proposes 2.5 storey houses with outward looking 
dormers and high ridge heights of 10 or 10.5 metres along the western 
boundary with the open green space that is to be retained. Such 
houses will appear intrusive and harmful to the low rural character of 
Benson and should not be approved. Proposed tree planting is thinly 
clustered rather than consistent or dense.
The application on this site for which permission was won on appeal 
just over a year ago promised one thing that would have been 
advantageous to the village: the retirement houses and apartments 
(two storeys), a need for which was demonstrated by the recent 
housing needs survey. This new application replaces these with three 
storey flats scattered through the development, as well as an 
increased number of four and five bedroom houses and three storey 
town houses. The height of the flats (towers 14 meters and roofs 12 
m) and town houses and their urban design is alien and inappropriate 
on this site on the edge of the village, harming the Conservation Area 
of Littleworth Road opposite and overshadowing the Sunnyside 
bungalows.
Section 40 of the Natural Environmental and Rural Communities Act, 
2006 places a duty to minimise impacts on biodiversity and provide 
net gains in biodiversity where possible. The revised design of this 
development, with so many properties squeezed into the area, makes 
this difficult to achieve when compared to the original layout and 
cannot be supported.
Loss of retirement flats and bungalows.

4.0 RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY
4.1 P17/S0423/SCR - Screening opinion request for erection of 187 dwellings plus 

formation of vehicular access and car parking. Provision of landscaping and open 
space and other associated work.

P15/S3922/DIS – Request to discharge conditions 3 (archaeological work), 4 
(contamination), 5 (Construction method statement), 6 (safety sightlines), 7 (pedestrian 
crossing), 8 (drainage) 10 (water supply), 11 (parking bike & storage), 13 (secured by 
design), 14 (hard & soft landscaping) and 16 (landscape management). Conditions 5, 
6, 7 and 11 will be considered discharged once the development has been constructed 
in accordance with approved plans. Conditions 3, 4, 10, 13 and 14 still require further 
work to be discharged as per a letter received from the LPA as per the 20th October 
2016.

P15/S3916/O – Resolution to approve subject to a S106 – 29 June 2016
Littleworth phase 2 
Outline application (with all matters reserved except access) for the erection of 241 
dwellings (40% of which will be affordable) with associated access, public open space, 
landscaping, nature park and woodlP15/Sand; Up to 230 sq.m retail space; Provision of 
community facilities including relocated school playing fields, youth facilities hut, skate 
park and play space. (As amended by drawings and accompanying letter from agent 
dated 26 February 2016 and minor amendment received 24 March 2016).

Page 12



South Oxfordshire District Council –Planning Committee – 13 March 2017

P14/S2564/FUL  WITHDRAWN - (06/12/2016)
1) The erection of 125 dwellings with associated access, open space and landscaping; 
2) 41 retirement flats and 11 retirement bungalows with associated parking and car 
share facilities. (associated community facilities falling within the blue line which will be 
subject to a separate planning application following consultation with Benson Parish 
Council.)

P15/S3923/FUL - Approved (13/06/2016)
Variation of conditions 2 (changes to layout) & 13 (secured by design) of planning 
permission P14/S0673/FUL
As amended by plans received 24 March 2016

(1) The erection of 107 dwellings with associated access, open space and landscaping; 
(2) 41 retirement flats and 11 retirement bungalows with associated parking.

P14/S0673/FUL - Approved (02/06/2015) - Approved on appeal (02/06/2015)
1) The erection of 125 dwellings with associated access, open space and landscaping; 
2) 41 retirement flats and 11 retirement bungalows with associated parking and car 
share facilities. Associated community facilities fall within the blue line which will be 
subject to a separate planning application following consultation with Benson Parish 
Council.

5.0 POLICY & GUIDANCE
5.1 South Oxfordshire Core Strategy policies

CS1  -  Presumption in favour of sustainable development
CSB1  -  Conservation and improvement of biodiversity
CSEM1  -  Supporting a successful economy
CSH1  -  Amount and distribution of housing
CSH2  -  Housing density
CSH3  -  Affordable housing
CSH4  -  Meeting housing needs
CSI1  -  Infrastructure provision
CSR1  -  Housing in villages
CSS1  -  The Overall Strategy

5.2 South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2011 policies;

C10  -  Landscape Features
C4  -  Landscape setting of settlements
C6  -  Maintain & enhance biodiversity
C8  -  Adverse affect on protected species
C9  -  Loss of landscape features
CON13  -  Archaeological investigation recording & publication
D1  -  Principles of good design
D10  -  Waste Management
D2  -  Safe and secure parking for vehicles and cycles
D3  -  Outdoor amenity area
D4  -  Reasonable level of privacy for occupiers
D7  -  Access for all
EP1  -  Adverse affect on people and environment
EP2  -  Adverse affect by noise or vibration
EP3  -  Adverse affect by external lighting
EP6  -  Sustainable drainage
G2  -  Protect district from adverse development

Page 13

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P14/S2564/FUL
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P15/S3923/FUL
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P14/S0673/FUL


South Oxfordshire District Council –Planning Committee – 13 March 2017

G3  -  Development well served by facilities and transport
H4  -  Housing sites in towns and larger villages outside Green Belt
T1  -  Safe, convenient and adequate highway network for all users
T2  -  Unloading, turning and parking for all highway users

South Oxfordshire Design Guide 2016

5.3 National Planning Policy Framework

National Planning Policy Framework Planning Practice Guidance

Paragraph 216 of the NPPF allows for weight to be given to relevant policies in 
emerging plans, unless other material considerations indicate otherwise, and only 
subject to the stage of preparation of the plan, the extent of unresolved objections and 
the degree of consistency of the relevant emerging policies with the NPPF.  

Emerging South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2032
The council carried out a consultation on the Preferred Options of the Local Plan 2032 
in the summer of 2016.  This proposes to allocate housing in rural communities through 
the neighbourhood plan process.  

Emerging Benson Neighbourhood Plan.
Benson are working towards the adoption of a neighbourhood plan but the plan carries 
limited weight at this stage

South Oxfordshire Section 106 Supplementary Planning Document 2016

5.4 Environmental Impact.
The proposal constitutes Schedule 2 (category 10(b) urban development projects) and 
exceeds the indicative threshold criteria (5ha). However the site is not within a sensitive 
area. Having regard to the characteristics of the development, it is not considered that 
there is potential for significant environmental effects. The cumulative impact has also 
been assessed taking into account other development proposals in the area and the 
extant planning permission on the site. This scheme proposes 28 dwellings more than 
the extant permission. The application has been supported by sufficient documents for 
these aspects of the scheme to be considered in full. Thus, it is considered an 
Environmental Statement is not required for this proposal. This recommendation holds 
when considering the impact of this development cumulatively with the permitted sites 
in the village and area. A formal screening opinion was issued on 3 February 2017.

Other Relevant Legislation 
 Environmental Impact Regulations, as amended 2015
 Community & Infrastructure Levy Legislation Human Rights Act 1998 
 Section 17 of the Crime and Disorder Act 1998 
 Natural Environment and Rural Communities (NERC) Act 2006 
 The Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2010
 Human Rights Act 1998
 Equality Act 2010 section 149
 CIL Regulations 2010 (as amended)

6.0 PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS
6.1 Background. In June 2015 a scheme for 159 homes was granted full planning 

permission subject to conditions by an Inspector at appeal. The scheme included the 
following:

Page 14



South Oxfordshire District Council –Planning Committee – 13 March 2017

 107 residential dwellings
 41 retirement flats and 
 11 retirement bungalows.

As part of this permission highway changes were secured through a legal agreement. 
This involved changing Littleworth Road to a two way road where previously it had been 
one way. The approved masterplan is attached at Appendix 3.

6.2 Revisions to the layout approved at appeal were approved under application 
P15/S3923/FUL. These were;

 material amendments to the internal road layout including the re- location 
parking bays, changes to landscaping from original scheme on western edges 
and minor alterations to driveway arrangements for plots 33, 34,and 35; and

 inclusion of additional Local Equipped Area for Play (LEAP) of 0.26ha to be 
included within the approved Phase 1 within part of the area originally shown as 
open space

 additional off site highway works to those originally proposed. These are shown 
on drawing numbers 32385_5501_016A, 32385_5501_017 and 
32385_5501_018. These plans shows all the works proposed including works 
already agreed through the original permission e.g. making Littleworth Road 2-
way. The main alterations relate to changes to the pedestrian crossings and 
inclusion of a footpath on the northern side of Littleworth Road. 

The current application seeks a number of revisions to the original scheme, primarily 
increasing the number of units on the site from 159 to 187 – an additional 28 units. 

6.3 The principle of residential development on this site has already been established by 
the extant planning permission that was allowed on appeal. The mains issue is to 
assess the changes proposed in terms of changes to policy landscape, highway, 
neighbour impacts and any other technical issues including the following. 

 The principle of the development, including:
- Development Plan
- Neighbourhood Plan.

 Matters of detail / technical issues, including:
- landscape impact,
- design and layout,
- highway safety and traffic impact,
- affordable housing,
- neighbour amenity and amenity of future residents,
- flood risk and surface / foul drainage,
- noise, and
- mix

 Infrastructure requirements, including:
- on-site infrastructure to be secured under a legal agreement,
- off-site contributions pooled under the Community Infrastructure Levy

6.4 The Principle of Development. The principle of residential development on this site 
has already been established by the extant planning permission that was allowed on 
appeal. Section 38 (6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires 
applications for planning permission be determined in accordance with the 

Page 15



South Oxfordshire District Council –Planning Committee – 13 March 2017

development plan unless materials considerations indicate otherwise.  Section 70 (2) of 
the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 provides that the local planning authority shall 
have regard to the provisions of the development plan, so far as material to the 
application, and to any other material considerations.  In the case of South Oxfordshire, 
the most relevant parts of the Development Plan are the Core Strategy which was 
adopted in December 2012, the saved policies of the South Oxfordshire Local Plan 
2011 and any relevant neighbourhood plans.   Development which is not in accordance 
with an up-to-date development plan should be refused unless material considerations 
indicate otherwise.

6.5 Benson is designated as a ‘larger village’ in the Core Strategy.  Policy CSS1 sets out 
an overall strategy for the District, which seeks, among other things, to support and 
enhance the larger villages as local service centres, while focusing ‘major new 
development’ at Didcot and supporting the roles of Henley, Thame and Wallingford.

6.6 Policy CSH1 identified the distribution of housing within South Oxfordshire including 
housing in the 12 larger villages. Policy CSR1 indicates that housing provision in the 
villages will be achieved through allocations, infill development and rural exception sites 
for affordable housing and that there would be no limit on infill development in these 
settlements. 

6.7 The application site falls beyond the built up limits of the village.  It is not closely 
surrounded by buildings or a small gap in an otherwise built-up frontage.  It does not 
represent an infill development.  It is also not a site allocated for housing in an adopted 
/ made plan.  The development therefore conflicts with the development plan, insofar as 
it does not meet with the policy CSR1 criteria against which proposals for development 
beyond the built-up limits of larger villages are assessed.  However, the site area is the 
same as the extant planning permission site and this is a material consideration.

6.8 To significantly boost the supply of housing, the NPPF requires local planning 
authorities to identify and update annually a supply of specific deliverable sites 
sufficient to provide five years’ worth of housing against their housing requirements.  
This supply should include an additional buffer of 5% to ensure choice and competition 
in the market for land.  Alternatively, where there has been persistent under delivery of 
housing, the buffer should increase to 20% to provide a realistic prospect of achieving 
the planned supply.    

6.9 The most recent evidence base that informs the council’s housing requirements is the 
2014 Strategic Housing Market Assessment (SHMA).  To meet the identified housing 
need for the district, the SHMA committed economic growth housing forecast is 750 
homes per annum.  This is a sizable uplift from the requirement for 547 homes per 
annum set out in the SOCS.

6.10 Based on the evidence in the SHMA and past delivery, the council has a housing land 
supply in the region of 3.8 years (including the 20% buffer for under delivery). Therefore 
the council cannot currently demonstrate a 5 year housing land supply.  In these 
circumstances, Paragraph 49 of the NPPF states that relevant policies for the supply of 
housing should not be considered up-to-date if the local planning authority cannot 
demonstrate a five year supply of deliverable housing land and the ‘presumption in 
favour of sustainable development’ should be applied.  Policy CSR1 clearly relates to 
housing supply and is not up to date.  

6.11 Paragraph  14  of  the NPPF  advises  that  there  is  a  presumption  in  favour  of 
sustainable  development.  For  decision-taking  this  means approving  development  
proposals  that  accord  with  the  development  plan  without  delay;  and  where  the 

Page 16



South Oxfordshire District Council –Planning Committee – 13 March 2017

development  plan  is  absent,  silent  or relevant  policies  are  out-of-date,  granting 
permission  unless:
 –  any  adverse  impacts  of  doing  so  would  significantly  and 
demonstrably  outweigh  the  benefits,  when  assessed  against  the  policies  in  this 
Framework  taken  as  a  whole;  or
 –  specific policies in this Framework indicate development should be restricted.

Footnote 4 (formerly footnote 9) of the NPPF introduces the specific policies in the 
NPPF that indicate development should be restricted. Amongst these are policies 
relating to an Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty designated historic assets such as 
conservation areas.

6.12 The NPPF does not suggest that populations of settlements should be limited in some 
way or not be expanded by any particular figure. It expects housing to be boosted 
significantly.  Additional housing can help support and secure local services and it may 
be possible to address infrastructure deficiencies through planning conditions or 
through a legal agreement.  

6.13 The Core Strategy housing supply policies are out of date and are given less weight in 
our decision making. In addition, the council’s high court challenge of appeal decisions 
in Chinnor concluded that the council is silent on CSR1 in relation to housing in larger 
villages due to the lack of the Site Allocations DPD. Therefore, paragraphs 49 and 14 of 
the NPPF are also applied to CSR1 regardless of the current five year land supply 
position. 

6.14 Sustainable development should now be permitted unless there is planning harm that 
outweighs the benefit of providing new housing.  Applications for housing should now 
be considered in the context of the presumption in favour of sustainable development 
and should be permitted unless there is planning harm that outweighs the benefit of 
providing new housing.  It is in this context that the application will be assessed. The 
impacts of the development are considered below and the planning balance weighed 
up in the conclusion of this report.

6.15 Benson Neighbourhood Plan. Paragraph 216 of the NPPF allows for weight to be 
given to relevant policies in emerging plans, unless other material considerations 
indicate otherwise, and only subject to the stage of preparation of the plan, the extent of 
unresolved objections and the degree of consistency of the relevant emerging policies 
with the NPPF.  These are not applicable in the case of this Benson site as the site has 
no special designation.

6.16 Benson Parish are working towards the adoption of a neighbourhood plan. The emerging 
neighbourhood plan is now in its final phase of production. Consultation on the pre-
submission version is likely to commence in March 2017 and the referendum will take 
place soon after. The village proposes the development of approximately 340 dwellings 
(excluding those already approved on BEN1) across the BEN2, BEN3 and BEN4 sites. 
This approach is underpinned by two parallel objectives. The first is to provide an 
appropriate number of new dwellings to ensure that Benson is a vibrant and sustainable 
community in the medium and long term. The second is to provide a developer-funded 
Edge road around the north of the village and which will provide significant traffic relief 
from the existing issues in the village centre. 
The NP has some weight but it is limited. The Benson Neighbourhood Plan accepts 
residential on this site (BEN1).

6.17 The question is, therefore, is whether the proposed development constitutes 
sustainable development.

Page 17



South Oxfordshire District Council –Planning Committee – 13 March 2017

At paragraph 7, the NPPF identifies three dimensions to sustainable development 
which include economic, social and environmental considerations. It states that 
these roles should not be undertaken in isolation as they are mutually dependent.

6.18 Economic Dimension – 
The proposal will provide additional housing where there is an identified requirement to
increase housing targets and boost housing supply. This scheme proposes an 
additional 28 dwellings over the extant scheme which will make a small contribution to 
the overall supply of housing and this cannot be dismissed out of hand. The associated 
construction jobs and local investment during its build out as well as longer term 
expenditure in the local economy will be of economic benefit to the local area. 

The proposal will also help meet the requirements under Policy CSS1 for larger villages 
by facilitating growth which supports the provision and retention of local services. The 
proposal therefore has economic benefits and no significant and demonstrable adverse 
impacts.

6.19 Social Dimension – Benson is a larger village, which is identified as a sustainable 
location for housing within the core strategy policy CSS1. Taking a midpoint from the 
site it is situated some 0.4 kilometre from village centre facilities which contains a range 
of facilities including doctor’s surgery and shops. It is also around 0.2km from the 
primary school, Benson is relatively well located for public transport. The site is in easy 
walking distance of bus stops is for the 139 which operates between Wallingford and 
Henley on Thames operating on an hourly frequency in both directions during the day. 
In addition,  the  x39/x40  bus  service providing  direct  services  to  Oxford,  
Wallingford  and  Reading. The site is also well connected via public footpaths to the 
countryside beyond. I consider this site to be in a sustainable location.

The development will provide housing and increase housing choice and availability in a 
sustainable location where there is an identified requirement to increase housing 
targets and boost housing supply. 

6.20 Environmental dimension - Landscape and conservation area impact. The site has 
no special designation but does lie adjacent to the Benson conservation area. This 
submission differs from the approved scheme in that the number of proposed units has 
increased and the position of buildings along the eastern end of Littleworth Road have 
been altered. This alteration appears to align with the slightly higher density of existing 
development at the eastern end of Littleworth Road. It appears from the proposed site 
layout plan that the areas of open space and small view cones from the Littleworth 
Road that were identified in the appeal scheme as positive have been retained. Overall, 
I consider the landscape and heritage impacts to be equal to the extant approved 
scheme. 

6.21 Conclusion in respect of the principle of development – 
In your officers view the location of the site, the proximity to existing services within the 
village and availability and access to public transport to the wider county and region in 
conjunction with the social, environmental and economic benefits mean that this 
proposal does constitute a sustainable form of development. Therefore unless there 
are significant and demonstrable adverse impacts from the development the 
presumption is in favour of granting permission for the development and the 
principle of housing on this site is acceptable. 

The remaining sections of this report consider the proposal in detail in terms of whether 
there are adverse impacts generated from the development that would outweigh the 
benefits that it would bring. 

Page 18



South Oxfordshire District Council –Planning Committee – 13 March 2017

6.22 Matters of detail / technical issues

6.23 Design and layout.
The application is a full application with all details for consideration. The application 
follows pre-application discussions which sought to identify and resolve any urban 
design issues with the layout. There has been a significant improvement as a result of 
these discussions. Key design parameters for the scheme include;

 Higher density in the central areas of the site and towards the eastern boundary 
where there is existing residential development 

• Lower density towards western and northern boundaries which front onto the 
open countryside, reflecting their sensitive location 

• Alignment of the development to the south to integrate with Littleworth Road 
through the use of built frontages 

• The main (approved) spine road through the site which creates a sense of 
legibility and orientation through the development with other roads designed 
according to their hierarchy across the layout and to create variety and a sense 
of place across the development 

• A suitable level of parking for all plots on site 
• The village green at the front of the site to encourage pedestrian access to the 

existing “cut through” to the local primary school and village centre services and 
facilities – 

6.24 A number of concerns have been further resolved with the submission of amended 
plans;

 Tree planting has been added to the parking areas for plots 52-59 to improve 
and break up areas for parking.

 Use of resin bound gravel for parking areas to plots 106 to 109 to improve 
outlook.

 Clarification of neighbour impact from Plots 100, 105 and 112
 Revisions to blocks of flats – to reduce height. Some concerns remain that the 

heights still appear a little uniform.
 Repositioning of three storey block to improve neighbour impact on The Close 

and Sunnyside properties – see below
6.25

6.26 Highway safety and traffic impact. Vehicular access into the site is via Littleworth 
Road and has already been approved as part of the extant permission, which includes 

Page 19



South Oxfordshire District Council –Planning Committee – 13 March 2017

significant S278 works to mitigate the impact of the development. The proposal would 
generate additional traffic compared to the extant scheme and the approved access 
would be suitable to accommodate the anticipated trips as justified in the 
accompanying Transport Assessment. A number of mitigation measures are proposed 
to ensure the site is accessible, sustainable and promotes road safety. These 
measures are outlined in further detail in the Transport Assessment but they include a 
zebra and raised pedestrian crossing, new pedestrian footways and a shared drive 
reserved for vehicle manoeuvring.

6.27 In the circumstances, The County Highways Officer has raised no objection to the 
application subject to the imposition of conditions and the completion of a legal 
agreement to secure a contribution towards the enhancement of local public transport 
infrastructure.  In coming to this conclusion, the highways officer has considered the 
suitability of the access, level of parking provision provided within the site, the 
accessibility of the site for sustainable modes of travel, and trip generation.    

6.28 Affordable housing. 
Policy CSH3 of the core strategy seeks to achieve 40% of affordable housing on sites 
where there is a net gain of 3 houses. 40% of the total of 187 dwellings equates to 74.8 
units. The applicant has offered 75 units for the affordable element which meets the 
requirement and will be secured through a variation to the existing or a new S106 as 
appropriate. The affordable units will be provided in 5 or 6 clusters pepper potted 
throughout the development with each being no more than 15 dwellings, which meets 
the council’s standards and is acceptable.

6.29 Neighbour amenity and amenity of future residents.
There was some concern with the original submission about proximity and potential 
overlooking from of one of the block of flats in relation to bungalows and dwellings in 
The Close and on Sunnyside. However, the amended plans have relocated the block of 
flats more centrally on the site. Based on the layout and the separation that is achieved 
between the proposed dwellings and neighbouring properties, I am of the opinion that 
the development of the site will not now have any adverse impacts on neighbours in 
terms of light, outlook and privacy.  The distance between dwellings on Sunnyside and 
the new dwellings is over 30m. These distances are in excess of the minimum back to 
back distances recommended in the Design Guide and are acceptable in my view.

6.30 I am also satisfied that the proposed layout ensures that there would be no adverse 
overlooking, or loss of light and outlook, between plots.  

6.31 Flood risk and surface / foul drainage.
The application site is within Flood Zone 1 (least probability of flooding) and as such, 
there are no objections to the development in relation to flood risk.  

6.32 The site is known to be susceptible to surface water flooding in some areas and a 
detailed scheme for the site would need to incorporate a Sustainable Urban Drainage 
(SUDS) compliant strategy to ensure that all surface water run-off is accommodated 
within the confines of the site and discharged in a controlled manner.  As advised by 
the council’s drainage consultant, the details of this could be secured by condition.  
Details of foul drainage are also to be secured by condition.

6.33 Noise. Amenity of occupants. All residential properties in Benson suffer from noise 
disturbance from noise impacts from aircraft from the Benson RAF airfield. All 
applications for new residential development in Benson must now include a noise 
assessment to ensure that there is specific consideration for indoor and outdoor 

Page 20



South Oxfordshire District Council –Planning Committee – 13 March 2017

amenity in accordance with BS8233:2014. The noise assessment helps to ensure that 
an appropriate scheme for protecting the proposed dwellings and future residents is put 
forward for consideration. In this case a noise assessment was not submitted with the 
application and given the extant planning permission on the site could not be required.

6.34 The current noise climate for the proposed properties is poor and any prospective 
occupants will suffer some adverse effect of loss of amenity in their gardens and 
varying levels of sleep disturbance from noise produced by the passing helicopters from 
the nearby RAF Benson airbase. As the number of night time flight movements varies 
greatly how much sleep disturbance occurs is impossible to quantify precisely. 
However, this is consistent for most of the existing inhabitants of Benson. It has been 
accepted that Benson must provide new sites for housing and this site performs no 
worse than the existing housing stock. Sites which are closer to the RAF base or where 
noise is worse than for the existing housing stock will not be supported. Sites for 
housing will need some noise mitigation measures to address noise issues as much as 
possible.

6.35 In this case, planning permission already exists on the site for new residential 
development where noise impacts were not considered to be material. However, since 
the appeal decision noise impacts have been considered in more detail. The evidence 
base justifies a changed approach. In the circumstances, a condition should be applied 
to the development seeking an additional report in respect of noise and mitigation 
measures.

6.36 Housing mix. Policy CSH4 of the Core Strategy requires a mix of housing to be 
provided to meet current demand.  The district currently has two published documents 
for considering housing mix - the Oxfordshire Strategic Housing Market Assessment 
(SHMA) 2014 and the South Oxfordshire Housing Needs Assessment (HNA) 2012. 

The HNA was a more thorough assessment than the SHMA and is based on original 
survey data and 2001 census data using the ODPM model and Guide to Good 
Practice.  

The SHMA uses secondary data from the 2011 census and GL Hearn demographic 
projections.  It suggests that councils should have regard to other up to date evidence 
of need and the existing mix and turnover of properties at a local level.

Market housing
The districts Housing Needs Assessment provides detail on the recommended mix of 
housing type and size.  The assessment found a shortfall of smaller units, especially 
two bedroom properties, in both the market and affordable sectors.  The HNA indicated 
50% 1 and 2 bedrooms and 50% 3 bedrooms plus. 
 
The SHMA also found a shortfall in smaller units but recommended for most units to be 
2 and 3 bedrooms.  The findings from both are summarised below.

Market homes (%) 1 bed 2 bedrooms 3 bedrooms 4+ bedrooms
HNA 50 50
SHMA 6 27 43 24

The mix should be informed by this evidence but should also respond to the character 
of the setting and the layout of the scheme to help develop distinct character areas and 
variety within the development. 

In this case, the mix of units proposed is illustrated below. 

Page 21



South Oxfordshire District Council –Planning Committee – 13 March 2017

 42 x one and 2 bed units, (23%)
 105 x three bed units (56%)
 34 x four bed units (18%)
 6 x five bed units (3%)

It proposes an acceptable mix of size of dwellings in two storey and 2.5 storey forms.

6.37 Infrastructure requirements 

On-site infrastructure to be secured under a legal agreement

6.38 In accordance with the council’s S106 Planning Obligations Supplementary Planning 
Document, the following additional financial contributions would also be required 
towards on-site infrastructure:
- Affordable housing
- Street naming and numbering 
- Provision of recycle bins 
- Management of public open space
- Monitoring fee 

6.39 As advised by the County highways officer, the following site specific highways 
contributions would also need to be secured under a S106:
- Public transport contribution – the enhancement of local public transport 

infrastructure, £187,000 (index-linked RPIX December 2016)
- Travel plan monitoring fees of £1,240
- £25,000 (index-linked Baxters December 2016) for infrastructure improvements at 

the northbound Benson Marina bus stop.

Page 22



South Oxfordshire District Council –Planning Committee – 13 March 2017

6.40 I consider that these contributions / obligations would accord with policy CSI1 of the 
SOCS, which requires new development to be supported by appropriate on and off-site 
infrastructure and services.  They would also accord with the relevant tests in the NPPF 
as they are necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms, are 
directly related to the development and are fair and reasonably related in scale and 
kind to the development.  In the absence of a completed S106 legal agreement, an 
additional reason for refusal would need to be attached to be added to the decision 
notice as the necessary contributions / obligations have not been secured.  

6.41 Off-site contributions pooled under the Community Infrastructure Levy

The council adopted a Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) on 1 April 2016.  With the 
exception of the affordable housing, any additional floor space is usually CIL liable at a 
rate of £156 per sq.m.  The money collected can be pooled with contributions from 
other development sites to fund a wide range of off-site infrastructure to support growth, 
including schools, transport, community, leisure and health facilities.    

6.42 Under the CIL regulations, the Parish Council would receive a proportion of CIL money.  
This could be spent on infrastructure projects that are priorities for the community.  If 
the Neighbourhood Plan is made prior to the commencement of development, it would 
receive 25 percent of the CIL money collected from the development (as opposed to 15 
percent without a Neighbourhood Plan) to spend it on local projects or contribute 
towards strategic infrastructure.  

7.0 CONCLUSION
7.1 Your officers recommend that planning permission is granted because the proposal 

needs to be assessed against the presumption in favour of sustainable development at 
paragraph 14 of the NPPF. This is because the Core Strategy Policy CSR1 has been 
found to be silent on housing in larger villages by the High Court and the district also 
does not currently have a five year housing land supply. The report describes the 
proposals in full and assesses the proposal against the relevant material planning 
considerations.  The three strands of sustainable development are set out at paragraph 
7 of the NPPF as economic, social and environmental.  All these have been considered 
and the conclusions against each of the strands is summarised below.  

Economic role
The Government has made clear its view that house building plays an important role in 
promoting economic growth.  In economic terms, the scheme would provide 
construction jobs and some local investment during its build out, as well as longer term 
expenditure in the local economy supporting the ongoing vibrancy of the village. I 
consider that moderate weight should be afforded to this benefit. 

Social role
The proposal helps to support strong, vibrant and healthy communities, by providing a 
net gain of 28 dwellings (over the existing extant permission) towards those required to 
meet the needs of present and future generations.  It also does this by creating an 
acceptable built environment, in a sustainable location with accessible local services 
close by for new residents to use. I consider moderate weight should be given to these 
social benefits. 
Environmental role
In environmental terms, there are no landscape objections to the scheme.  In addition, 
given the very substantial area of the district that is covered by protected landscapes or 
Green Belt, the opportunity to provide new dwellings on a suitable site that is not within 
these designations weighs significantly in favour of the proposal.

Page 23



South Oxfordshire District Council –Planning Committee – 13 March 2017

Although some local residents have identified concerns in terms of highway safety and 
capacity of facilities there is no evidence of harm that cannot be mitigated. There are no 
objections from Oxfordshire County Council subject to the delivery of the mitigation 
measures for highways and CIL contributions for education and no other infrastructure 
providers have raised objections. There is no demonstrable evidence that there is a 
cumulative impact of allowing the additional 28 homes in addition to the extant planning 
permission on the site. The Local Plan and the NDP plan are at an early stage of 
preparation and can be given limited weight in accordance with paragraph 216 of the 
NPPF. 

Taking into account the benefits of the development and weighing these against the
limited harm, I consider that the proposal represents a sustainable development
consistent with Para.14 of the NPPF and Policy CS1 of the South Oxfordshire Core 
Strategy and the emerging BNP. The proposal would contribute towards the objective 
to boost the supply of housing, consistent with Para.47 of the NPPF. Therefore, placing 
all of the relevant material considerations in the balance I conclude that the limited 
adverse impacts would not significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits of the 
proposal and recommend the application for approval, subject to the prior completion or 
variation of the relevant S106 Planning Obligation.

8.0 RECOMMENDATION
8.1 To authorise the Head of Planning to grant planning permission subject to the 

prior variation/completion of the Section 106 agreement and the following 
conditions:

1. Commencement three years - full planning permission.
2. Approved plans. 
3. Materials as on plan.
4. Noise.
5. Surface water drainage works (details required). 
6. Foul drainage works (details required).
7. Archaeology.
8. New vehicular access. 
9. Vision splay details. 
10. New estate roads.
11. Estate accesses driveways and turning areas.
12. Parking and manoeuvring areas with plan of car parking provision.
13. Construction traffic management plan. 
14. Travel plan and residential travel pack: The submitted travel plan will be 

revised in light of comments received and resubmitted for approval by the 
Local Planning Authority before first occupation of the site. 

15. Travel information pack.
16. Safe routes to school study.
17. Landscaping.

Any other conditions deemed necessary after negotiation on S106

Author:        Sharon Crawford
Contact No: 01235 422600
Email:           planning@southoxon.gov.uk

Page 24



Page 25

Agenda Item 7

shacra
Typewriter
Appendix 1

shacra_1
Typewriter
Application site

shacra_2
Typewriter
Conservation area(hatched)

shacra_3
Polygon

shacra_4
Typewriter
Littleworth Phase 2Area

shacra_5
Typewriter
P15/S3916/O

shacra_6
Typewriter
P16/S3611/FUL



Appendix 2

P
age 26



P
age 27

shacra_7
Typewriter
Appendix 2 Layout plan



P
age 28



H
O

U
SE TYPE

A

HOUSE TYPE
C

HOUSE TYPE
C

H
O

U
SE TYPE

C

HOUSE TYPE
C

HO
US

E 
TY

PE
C

HOUSE
 T

YP
E

A

HOUSE
 T

YP
E

A

HOUSE
 T

YP
E

A

HOUSE
 T

YP
E

A

HOUSE TYPE
A

HOUSE TYPEA

HOUSE TYPE
C

H
O

U
SE TYPE
A

B

H
O

U
SE TYPE
A

B

H
O

U
SE TYPE
A

B

HOUSE TYPE
B

HOUSE TYPE
AC

HOUSE TYPE
AC

HOUSE TYPE
AC

HOUSE TYPE
AC

HOUSE TYPE
AC

HOUSE TYPE
AC

HOUSE TYPE
G

HOUSE TYPE
G

HOUSE TYPE
G

H
O

U
SE TYPE
A

A

H
O

U
SE TYPE
A

C

H
O

U
SE TYPE

H
H

O
U

SE TYPE
H

H
O

U
SE TYPE

H
H

O
U

SE TYPE
H

H
O

U
SE TYPE

H
H

O
U

SE TYPE
H

H
O

U
SE TYPE

H
H

O
U

SE TYPE
H

H
O

U
SE TYPE

H
H

O
U

SE TYPE
H

H
O

U
SE TYPE

H
H

O
U

SE TYPE
H

H
O

U
SE TYPE

H
H

O
U

SE TYPE
H

HOUSE TYPE
HHOUSE TYPE
H

HOUSE TYPE
HHOUSE TYPE
H

HOUSE TYPE
HHOUSE TYPE
H

HOUSE TYPE
HHOUSE TYPE
H

HOUSE TYPE
HHOUSE TYPE
H

HOUSE TYPE
HHOUSE TYPE
H

H
O

U
SE TYPE
A

C

H
O

U
SE TYPE
A

C

HOUSE TYPE
AC

HOUSE TYPE
AC

HOUSE TYPE
AX

HO
US

E 
TY

PE
AX

HOUSE TYPE
G

HOUSE TYPE
G

HOUSE TYPE
F

HOUSE TYPE
G

HOUSE TYPE
G

HOUSE TYPE
G

HOUSE TYPE
G

HOUSE TYPE
G

HOUSE TYPE
F

HOUSE TYPE
G

H
O

U
SE TYPE

E

HO
USE TYPE

A
C

HO
USE TYPE

A
C

HO
USE TYPE

A
C

HOUSE TYPE
G

HOUSE TYPE
G

HOUSE TYPE
G

HOUSE TYPE
G

HOUSE TYPE
G

HOUSE TYPE
G

H
O

U
SE TYPE

C

H
O

U
SE TYPE
A

X

HO
US

E 
TY

PE
AX

HOUSE TYPE
A

H
O

U
SE TYPE
A

A

H
O

U
SE TYPE
A

A

HOUSE TYPE
F

HOUSE TYPE
F

HOUSE TYPE
F

H
O

U
SE TYPE
A

B

HOUSE TYPE
AB

HOUSE TYPE
AB

HOUSE TYPE
G

HOUSE TYPE
G

HOUSE TYPE
G

H
O

U
SE TYPE
A

C

H
O

U
SE TYPE
A

C

H
O

U
SE TYPE

E

HO
US

E 
TY

PE
E

H
O

U
SE TYPE
A

C

H
O

U
SE TYPE
A

C

H
O

U
SE TYPE
A

C

H
O

U
SE TYPE
A

B

HOUSE TYPE
G

HO
US

E 
TY

PE
AB

H
O

U
SE TYPE
A

A

H
O

U
SE TYPE
A

A

H
O

U
SE TYPE
A

A
HOUSE TYPE

AB

HOUSE TYPE
AA

HO
USE TYPE

A
B

HO
USE TYPE

A
B

HOUSE TYPE

E

H
O

U
SE TYPE

E

H
O

U
SE TYPE
A

C

H
O

U
SE TYPE
A

C

H
O

U
SE TYPE
A

C

HOUSE TYPE
G

HOUSE TYPE
H

HOUSE TYPE
H

HOUSE TYPE

E

P

Note:

Amendments Listed

P
age 29

shacra_8
Typewriter
Appendix 3Masterplan approved under

shacra_9
Typewriter
P15/S3923/FUL



T
his page is intentionally left blank



South Oxfordshire District Council –Planning Committee - 13 March 2017

APPLICATION NO. P16/S4177/FUL
APPLICATION TYPE FULL APPLICATION
REGISTERED 21.12.2016
PARISH CHOLSEY
WARD MEMBER(S) Jane Murphy

Pat Dawe
APPLICANT Mr Matt Fenton
SITE Bloom Buildings West End Cholsey, OX10 9LR
PROPOSAL Demolition of a range of existing B8 storage 

buildings and the erection of five dwellings with 
associated covered and open parking and amenity 
space provision (As amplified by Archaeological 
Desk-based assessment dated November 2016, 
Asbestos Survey and Tree Survey Report dated 
November 2016 accompanying email from agent 
received 15 December 2016 and amended by 
Drawings 200B,250A and 251A showing 
replacement and new planting and revised Bat 
Emergence/Re-entry Report accompanying email 
from agent received 18 January 2017 and Stage 1 
Desktop Study and Walkover Survey Report 
(Revision 1) accompanying email from agent 24 
January 2017)

AMENDMENTS Drawings 200B, 250A and 251A showing 
replacement and new planting

GRID REFERENCE 458080/185924
OFFICER Paul Bowers

1.0 INTRODUCTION
1.1 The application is referred to planning committee because the views of the Cholsey 

Parish Council differ from the officer’s recommendation. 

1.2 The application site is located some 330 metres to the south-west of the railway line 
which defines the extent of the built limits of Cholsey village to the south. Vehicular 
and pedestrian access to the site is possible from the north under the railway line from 
Westfield Road along a bridleway and from the east. 

The site is screened by boundary trees and planting and contains a number of timber 
clad and metal clad buildings that were likely constructed originally for agricultural 
purposes but which benefit from lawful B8 use for storage and distribution purposes. 
The site lies in the North Wessex Downs Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty.

1.3 A plan identifying the site can be found at Appendix 1 to this report.

2.0 PROPOSAL
2.1 The application seeks full planning permission to demolish the existing buildings and 

erect five new dwellings with associated parking and amenity space. The mix of 
properties comprises one x 3 bed, two x 2 bed units, one x 4 bed and 1 x 5 bed 
dwelling. 

2.2 The proposal has been amplified during the course of the application with 

Page 31

Agenda Item 8

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P16/S4177/FUL


South Oxfordshire District Council –Planning Committee - 13 March 2017

contamination reports, tree surveys, ecological reports and archaeological evaluations. 

2.3 Reduced copies of the plans accompanying the application can be found at Appendix 
2 to this report. All the plans and representations can be viewed on the council’s 
website www.southoxon.gov.uk under the planning application reference number.

3.0 SUMMARY OF CONSULTATIONS & REPRESENTATIONS
3.1 Cholsey Parish Council – Recommend refusal of planning permission for the following 

reasons;
- Poor access to the site.
- Not an allocated site and would set precedent.
- The distance from the village would increase car movements. 
- Close to the Benedictine Abbey. 
- Concern about lack of mains gas and water supply.

Neighbour Representations – 6 x objections covering the following main concerns;
- Development is too dense.
- Concern about the lack of mains water.
- Harmful impact to the AONB.
- Change of the rural charcater of the area particulary for walkers along the bridle 

path.
- Highway safety concerns.
- Overlooking of Blooms Cottage.
- Drawing attention to a previously dimissed appeal for housing. 

OCC Archaeological Services – Awaiting comments on additional information. To be 
updated at committee. 

North Wessex Downs AONB – Some concern about the heights of the garages and 
light spill.

Contaminated Land Officer - No objection following contamination reports having 
been provided but recommend conditions. 

Countryside Officer – No objection following updated ecologial reports having been 
provided but recommend condition.

OCC Highways Liaison Officer - No objection subject to conditions. 

4.0 RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY
4.1 P02/S0178/LD - Certificate of Lawful Use or Development (8/08/2002)

Change of use to B8 Storage or Distribution on the buildings and open storage on land 
outside the buildings on the site shown edged blue.

P97/W0084 - Refused (21/03/1997) - Refused on appeal (24/10/1997)
Change of use of redundant farm building to residential (single dwelling).

P95/W0157 - Refused (12/07/1995) - Approved on appeal (01/07/1996)
Change of use of redundant farm buildings to B1(A) (office use) and demolition of 
existing modern barn. (As amended by drawings accompanying agent's letter dated 10 
April 1995 and clarified by letter from agent dated 19 May 1995).

P94/W0553 - Approved (21/12/1994)
Change of use of redundant farm buildings to B1 (A) office use and demolition of 
existing modern barn.

Page 32

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P97/W0084
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P95/W0157
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P94/W0553


South Oxfordshire District Council –Planning Committee - 13 March 2017

5.0 POLICY & GUIDANCE
5.1 National Planning Policy Framework

National Planning Policy Framework Planning Practice Guidance

South Oxfordshire Core Strategy 2027 policies;
CS1 - Presumption in favour of sustainable development
CSB1 - Conservation and improvement of biodiversity
CSEN1 - Landscape protection
CSQ3 – Design
CSR1 - Housing in villages

South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2011 policies;
G2 - Protect district from adverse development
C6 - Maintain & enhance biodiversity
C8 - Adverse effect on protected species
CON11 - Protection of archaeological remains
CON13 - Archaeological investigation recording & publication
D1 - Principles of good design
D2 - Safe and secure parking for vehicles and cycles
D3 - Outdoor amenity area
D4 - Reasonable level of privacy for occupiers
EP3 - Adverse effect by external lighting
EP4 – Protection of water resources
EP8 - Contaminated land
H4 - Housing sites in towns/larger villages outside Green Belt
T1 - Safe, convenient and adequate highway network for all users
T2 - Unloading, turning and parking for all highway users

South Oxfordshire Design Guide 2016

6.0 PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS
6.1 The main issues to consider in relation to this proposal are as follows;

 The principle of development including;
The development plan
The neighbourhood plan
Housing supply
The NPPF
Impact on the AONB
Sustainability

 Whether the details of the development is acceptable in relation to Policy 
H4.

 Housing mix. 
 Plot coverage and amenity space.
 Highway impact.
 Impact on protected species.
 Contamination. 
 Impact on archaeology.
 Neighbour impact.
 Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL).
 Other issues. 

6.2 The principle of development including

Page 33



South Oxfordshire District Council –Planning Committee - 13 March 2017

Section 38 (6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires 
applications for planning permission be determined in accordance with the 
Development Plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise. Section 70 (2) of 
the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 provides that the local planning authority shall 
have regard to the provisions of the Development Plan, so far as material to the 
application, and to any other material considerations
Paragraph 215 of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) provides that due 
weight should be given to relevant policies in existing plans according to their degree of 
consistency with the NPPF. Other material planning considerations include national 
planning guidance within the NPPF and National Planning Policy Framework (NPPG)

6.3 The Development Plan – 

In the case of this application, the most relevant parts of the Development Plan are the 
South Oxfordshire Core Strategy 2027 (SOCS) which was adopted in December 2012 
and the saved policies of the South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2011 (SOLP). 
Cholsey is defined at Appendix 5 of SOCS as a ‘larger village’.  Policy CSR1 is the 
most relevant housing policy within the Core Strategy. It permits infill development 
within villages. Infill development is defined as the filling of an existing gap on an 
otherwise built up frontage or on other sites within the settlements where the site is 
closely surrounded by buildings.  

This site is located outside of the confines of the village where development plan 
policies would not permit new dwellings. The development is therefore in conflict with 
Policy CSR1. 

6.4 The Neighbourhood Plan – 

The Cholsey Neighbourhood Plan Area was designated in June 2016. The 
Neighbourhood Plan is currently at the plan preparation stage of development. At this 
stage the weight that can be afforded to it in the determination of this planning 
application is limited. 

6.5 Housing supply - 

To significantly boost the supply of housing, the NPPF requires local planning 
authorities to identify and update annually a supply of specific deliverable sites 
sufficient to provide five years’ worth of housing against their housing requirements.  
This supply should include an additional buffer of 5% to ensure choice and competition 
in the market for land.  Alternatively, where there has been persistent under delivery of 
housing, the buffer should increase to 20% to provide a realistic prospect of achieving 
the planned supply.    

6.6 The most recent evidence base that informs the council’s housing requirements is the 
2014 Strategic Housing Market Assessment (SHMA).  To meet the identified housing 
need for the district, the SHMA committed economic growth housing forecast is 750 
homes per annum.  This is a sizable uplift from the requirement for 547 homes per 
annum set out in the SOCS.

6.7 Based on the evidence in the SHMA and past delivery, the council has a housing land 
supply in the region of 3.8 years (including the 20% buffer for under delivery). Therefore 
the council cannot currently demonstrate a 5 year housing land supply.  

In these circumstances, Paragraph 49 of the NPPF states that relevant policies for the 
supply of housing should not be considered up-to-date if the local planning authority 

Page 34



South Oxfordshire District Council –Planning Committee - 13 March 2017

cannot demonstrate a five year supply of deliverable housing land and the ‘presumption 
in favour of sustainable development’ should be applied.  Policy CSR1 clearly relates to 
housing supply and is not up to date.  Therefore the fact that the development conflicts 
with Policy CSR1 is not in isolation a simple reason to refuse planning permission. 

6.8 The NPPF - 

Paragraph 14 of the NPPF advises that there is a presumption in favour of sustainable 
development.  

For decision-taking this means approving development proposals that accord with the 
development plan without delay; and where the development plan is absent, silent or 
relevant policies are out-of-date, granting permission unless: –

 any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably 
outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the policies in this 
Framework taken as a whole; or – 

 specific policies in this Framework indicate development should be 
restricted.

Policy CS1 of the SOCS echoes the provisions of Paragraph 14 of the NPPF. Policy 
CSS1 of the SOCS sets out the overall development strategy for the District and  
advises that proposals should be consistent with the overall strategy of focusing  major 
new development in Didcot; supporting the roles of Henley, Thame and Wallingford by 
regenerating town centres and providing new housing, services and  infrastructure; 
supporting the 12 larger villages of the District as local service centres;  supporting the 
smaller and other villages by allowing for limited amounts of housing;  and outside of 
the above areas, any changes will need to relate to very specific needs.

6.8i Paragraph 17 of the NPPF which sets out the core planning principles encourages the 
effective use of land by reusing land that has been previously developed.

6.9 Footnote 4 (formerly Footnote 9) of Page 4 of the NPPF introduces the specific policies 
in the NPPF that indicate development should be restricted. Amongst these are policies 
relating to Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty which are considered under 
paragraphs 115 and 116 of the NPPF.

Para. 115 states that great weight should be given to conserving landscape and scenic 
beauty in AONB’s as they have the highest status of protection. 

Para 116 states that planning permission should be refused for major developments in 
these designated area except in exceptional circumstances. 

6.10 Impact on the AONB -

In assessing whether Paragraph 116 is engaged it needs to be established whether the 
development constitutes major development in the AONB. In this context, the NPPF 
definition of “major” development is not the same as the “ten houses or more” definition 
used for classifying application types in the Development Management Procedure 
Order. 

The use of the word “major” in the NPPF is a more relative term and it is through case 
law that the quantum of what constitutes major development in the AONB has been 
determined. Case law to date indicates that factors such as the size of the development 
relative to the existing settlement and the severity of the development’s impact on the 
landscape are all factors in the assessment of what represents “major” development in 

Page 35



South Oxfordshire District Council –Planning Committee - 13 March 2017

the AONB. In this case the indicative proposal is for 5 detached dwellings. In officers’ 
view this quantum of development would not be major development for the purposes of 
para 116 of the NPPF.

This leaves us therefore with para. 115 and the impact the development would have on 
the AONB.

6.11 In assessing this impact I have considered the South Oxfordshire Landscape 
Assessment which identifies this site as being located within Character Area of Wessex 
Downs and Western Vale Fringes and is defined as Flat Open Farm Land on the border 
with Amenity Landscapes. The key characteristics of which are that the area is 
distinctively flat with a rural and remote character.

6.12 In considering the impact to the AONB I have had regard to the scale, design and 
appearance of the existing buildings and their authorised B8 use which is low key at the 
moment but could intensify should the site be sold on. 

I am also mindful of the overall size and bulk of the buildings. In addition the site is 
extremely well screened and only in small section on the eastern boundary are views 
possible in to the site.

The proposed dwellings are to be sited in the same general position as the existing 
buildings and in terms of height will be comparable to the existing structures. The 
design of the buildings also reflects the general agricultural appearance of the existing 
buildings. 

The North Wessex Down AONB have commented about potential light spillage. The 
existing use could potentially create some degree of light spillage for which the council 
would have not control. However given the sensitivity of the site a condition is proposed 
that will seek a scheme to be submitted showing external lighting. 

Weighing this all on the planning balance I conclude that the harm to the wider 
landscape of this area of the AONB will be limited. As such paragraph 115 does not 
outweigh the presumption in favour of sustainable development, in terms of paragraph 
14, and it is therefore engaged.

6.13 The question is therefore is whether the proposed development constitutes sustainable 
development.

At paragraph 7, the NPPF identifies three dimensions to sustainable development 
which include economic, social and environmental considerations. It states that 
these roles should not be undertaken in isolation as they are mutually dependent.

6.14 Economic Dimension – 
The proposal will provide additional housing where there is an identified requirement to
increase housing targets and boost housing supply. Even though the development 
provides for 5 units it will make a small contribution to the overall supply of housing and 
this cannot be dismissed out of hand. The associated construction jobs and local 
investment during its build out as well as longer term expenditure in the local economy 
will be of economic benefit to the local area. 

The proposal will also help meet the requirements under Policy CSS1 for smaller 
villages by facilitating growth which supports the provision and retention of local 
services. The proposal therefore has economic benefits and no significant and 
demonstrable adverse impacts.

Page 36



South Oxfordshire District Council –Planning Committee - 13 March 2017

6.15 Social Dimension – 
Cholsey is a sustainable location and includes a trains station, church, Tesco Express 
and several other shops restaurants and public houses. 

Although the site is outside of the settlement, which is well defined to the south of the 
village by the railway line, it is still a relatively sustainable location. It is 577 metres by 
foot to the railway station, 800 metres to the recreation ground and 1000 metres/0.6 
miles from the village centre. This is far closer than some dwellings along Wallingford 
Road to the north of village which are considered within the settlement and properties 
along Papist Way and in the new Cholsey Meadows Development. 

Furthermore, the site is located where there are realistic transport alternatives to the car 
with pedestrian links from the site to bus services to Wallingford and Oxford and access 
to the rail network via the Cholsey station. 

The development will provide housing and increase housing choice and availability in a 
sustainable location where there is an identified requirement to increase housing 
targets and boost housing supply. 

6.16 Conclusion in respect of the principle of development – 
In your officers view the site comprises previously developed land and the location of 
the site, the proximity to existing services within the village and availability and access 
to public transport to the wider county and region in conjunction with the social, 
environmental and economic benefits I conclude that this proposal does constitute a 
sustainable form of development. Therefore unless there are significant and 
demonstrable adverse impacts from the development the presumption is in favour of 
granting permission for the development and the principle of housing on this site is 
acceptable. 

The remaining sections of this report consider the proposal in detail in terms of whether 
there are adverse impacts generated from the development that would outweigh the 
benefits that it would bring. 

6.18 Whether the details of the development is acceptable in relation to Policy H4.

If a proposed housing development is acceptable in principle then the detail of the 
proposal is normally assessed against the criteria of Policy H4 which deals with new 
housing in settlements. However this site is not in the settlement and therefore it does 
not strictly apply to this case. The policy does provide a good framework for assessing 
the detail of a development and therefore I have used the criteria of H4 below to 
determine the impact of the development. 

6.19 Provision (i) of Policy H4 states ‘an important open space of public, environmental 
or ecological value is not lost, nor an important view spoilt.’

This is a previously developed site and does not comprise an important public open 
space. 

In terms of the ecological and environmental impacts these are dealt with separately in 
detail at paragraphs 6.28 and 6.29.

Whilst the tops of the existing buildings are partially visible in long views from the east 
and south east and through the boundary treatments from the adjacent bridle path the 
site is well screened. The development will not therefore spoil and important public 

Page 37



South Oxfordshire District Council –Planning Committee - 13 March 2017

view. 

6.20 Provision (ii) states ‘the design, height, scale and materials of the proposed 
development are in keeping with its surroundings.’ whilst Provision (iii) states that 
the ‘character of the area in not adversely affected.’ 

The NPPF states that good design is a key aspect of sustainable development and is 
important to plan positively for the achievement of high quality and inclusive design for 
all development, including individual buildings, public and private spaces and wider 
area development schemes (paras 56 and 57). 

The existing buildings reflect their current authorised use, and former agricultural use, 
in terms of their scale, appearance and materials. In this respect they are fairly typical 
of buildings found in isolated rural locations throughout the countryside. The 
appearance of the new dwellings have designed in such a way that they reflect the 
appearance and likeness of agricultural buildings. 
Although the appearance of the site will alter, the wider impact of this change will not be 
significant in my view. This is due to the level of screening that exists around the site 
boundaries and the way in which the buildings have been sited and designed relative to 
the existing buildings. I conclude that the limited harm the development would cause 
would not outweigh the benefits the development would bring. 

6.21 Provision iv) of Policy H4 states that there should be no overriding amenity or 
environmental or highway objections. 

In terms of amenity this refers to both the amenity space being provided for the 
occupants of the existing and new property and also the amenity of occupants of 
nearby properties. These issues are also covered by other policies within SOLP such 
as Policy D3 and T1 and they are considered separately as they are fundamental 
issues to this proposal. 

6.22 Housing Mix.

Policy CSH4 of the SOCS seeks an appropriate mix of dwelling types and sizes. This is 
to ensure that there is a satisfactory provision of smaller units across the district.

The development provides for one x 3 bed, two x 2 bed units, one x 4 bed and 1 x 5 
bed dwelling. This is a good range of dwelling types with a larger proportion of smaller 2 
bed units. In my view this provides for an adequate mix in line with the objectives of 
Policy CSH4. 

6.23 Plot coverage and amenity space.

Policy D3 of SOCS seeks to ensure that new dwellings should provide adequate private 
outdoor space. The amount of land to be used for garden or amenity space will be 
determined by the size of the dwelling and the character of surrounding development.

6.24 The South Oxfordshire Design Guide sets out the minimum amount of private amenity 
for 3 bedroom units and above at 100 square metres and for 2 bedroom units is 50 
square metres. 

The layout of the development ensures that all of the units exceed this minimum 
amount. 

The inability to provide these minimum standards would be an indicator that a proposal 

Page 38



South Oxfordshire District Council –Planning Committee - 13 March 2017

amounts to an overdevelopment. However this is not the case here. All five properties 
demonstrate that they are able to provide the required garden and parking provision 
and in my view this does not amount to an over development of the site. 

6.25 Impact on the amenities of the occupants of nearby properties. 

Impact on residential amenity is normally considered in terms of whether a 
development results in material harm by way of overlooking, loss of sunlight or being so 
large and close that it is considered oppressive and overbearing. 
The closest dwelling to the development is Bloom Cottage to the south west of the site. 
The position of the nearest building labelled E of the site plan is located to the north. As 
such it will not give rise to overshadowing and loss of sunlight.

The new dwelling does include windows in the south west facing elevation. These 
would have oblique views toward Bloom Cottage at a distance of some 30 metres 
through the tree lined boundary. In my view this does not result in harmful degree of 
overlooking to the point that the proposal would amount to unneighbourly development. 

The dwelling house at The Paddocks to the north is so far away that the new buildings 
will not result in a materially harmful impact. 

Overall I conclude that the development is acceptable in neighbour impact terms.

6.26 Impact on highway safety. 

With respect to highway safety matters the advice from Central Government set out in 
the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) is as follows:

Development should only be prevented or refused on transport grounds where the 
residual cumulative impacts of the development are severe. 
The term severe is locally interpreted as situations, which have a high impact, likely to 
result in loss of life, or a higher possibility of occurrence with a lower impact. 

6.27 The proposal seeks the demolition of a range of B8 storage buildings and the 
construction of five residential units. Although the level of use of the building is low at 
present this could increase at any point and generate a number of vehicle movements 
a day with of sizable vehicles. 

The site is accessible form the north and the south east. Given the characteristics of the 
carriageway, vehicular traffic and speeds are likely to be low. The proposal is unlikely to 
result in any significant intensification of transport activity at the property. No change is 
proposed to the existing access arrangements. The proposal is unlikely to
have a significant adverse impact on the highway network.

The vehicle movements associated with the proposal in terms of the previous/existing 
usage of the site does not present “severe harm” as required in the recent Government 
guidelines in the Nation Planning Policy Framework to warrant a recommendation for
refusal.

6.28 Impact on protected species.

The habitats present on site are not considered to be a constraint to this application, 
being comprised mainly of ruderal growth, hardstanding, buildings and hedgerows 

Page 39



South Oxfordshire District Council –Planning Committee - 13 March 2017

which are not classified as important under the Hedgerow Regulations 1997. Certain 
features on site, such as the buildings, are associated with protected species.

Two species of bats have been found to be roosting in Barn/Building 3. Additional 
ecological information (Bat Emergence/Re-Entry Survey Report, Enzygo Ltd, 
18/01/2016). The Councils Ecologist is satisfied that the bat activity surveys were 
conducted in accordance with best practice and I agree with the conclusions of the 
report. I consider that the implementation of the proposed mitigation and enhancement, 
subject to the grant of a European protected species licence from Natural England, 
would be sufficient to bring this application in accordance with Policy CSB1 of the 
SOCS, and Policies C6 and C8 of the SOLP.

6.29

6.30

6.31

Contamination. 

Policy EP8 of SOLP seeks to ensure that development on contaminated land is not 
permitted unless the contamination is effectively treated to prevent any harm to human 
health and the wider environment. 

As originally submitted the application was accompanied by a Stage 1 Desktop Study 
and Walkover Survey Report. This report was written in the absence of knowledge on 
the intended development and made recommendation for further contaminated land 
investigations after identifying several potential contaminated land sources.

A further revised report was submitted during the application. This report identifies 
potential sources of land contamination that could impact the development making 
recommendations for intrusive investigations. To ensure that any land contamination 
that could impact the development is addressed, the Council’s Contaminated Land 
Officer recommends that any planning permission is subject to conditions that require a 
phased risk assessment be carried out and each phase shall be submitted to the 
council for approval. The second phase requires a comprehensive intrusive 
investigation of the site in order to characterise the contamination present and the third 
phase a remediation strategy to be submitted and approved. The second proposed 
condition seeks to ensure that the dwellings are not occupied until the remediation has 
been carried out in full. 

6.32

6.33

Impact on archaeology. 

The site is located in an area of archaeological potential located within the suggested 
site of a Benedictine Abbey believed to have been founded in c.986 and destroyed by 
the Danes c.1006 (PRN 2708). The Victoria County History of Berkshire (VCH 
Berkshire Vol. 3 (1923) p.297) mentions that Henry I granted the manor to Reading
Abbey and an important grange and Abbott's residence was established. There are no 
structural remains in the area but there are two moats, with one side common to both.
The Oxfordshire County Council Archaeologist recommended that an archaeological 
field evaluation is undertaken prior to the determination of the application. This has 
taken place and the findings reported back to the County Council.

At the time of writing this report I have not received the County Councils archaeologist’s 
comments on the findings. This will be verbally updated at planning committee along 
with any suggested additional conditions the archaeologists recommends. 

6.34 Community Infrastructure Levy.

The council’s CIL charging schedule has been adopted. CIL is a planning charge that 
local authorities can implement to help deliver infrastructure and to support the 

Page 40



South Oxfordshire District Council –Planning Committee - 13 March 2017

development of their area, and is primarily calculated on the increase in footprint 
created as a result of the development. 
In this case CIL is liable as the proposal involves the creation of a new dwellings and 
incurs an amount of £59,436.

6.35 Other issues. 

A concern expressed by a number of the objectors relates to the water supply for 
properties in the vicinity. The site and adjoining properties are served by a private water 
supply. Although concerns have been expressed about the capacity the supply has in 
terms of the new dwellings I have no evidence to suggest that there is a capacity issue. 
The existing buildings are served by the existing supply and if used to their optimum 
capacity in terms of their B8 use the demands on water supply would potentially 
increase and the council would have no control over this situation. It is not therefore 
considered to be a sufficient justification to refuse planning permission. 

7.0 CONCLUSION
7.1 The site is located outside of the settlement. The council’s current housing land supply 

position means that the presumption in favour of sustainable development set out in 
para 14 of the NPPF is engaged unless other policies within the NPPF restrict 
development. The site is located in the AONB and the NPPF affords great weight to 
should be given to conserving landscape and scenic beauty in AONB’s. However in this 
case the site is previously developed land with large buildings currently in B8 use. In 
addition there is significant screening and therefore the overall harm to the AONB is 
limited. The presumption favour of sustainable development is engaged and this site, 
although outside of the village is in walking distance of the village facilities and the train 
station. It is a sustainable location. Any harm to highway safety, archaeology and 
ecology and human health from potential contamination is controlled through 
conditions. What limited harm there is does not outweigh the benefit of providing 5 new 
houses in a sustainable location. 

8.0 RECOMMENDATION
8.1 That planning permission is granted subject to the following conditions:

8.2 1. Commencement three years. 
2. The development must be carried out in accordance with the approved plans.
3. Schedule of materials to be submitted for approval.
4. Existing vehicular access shall be improved to Oxfordshire County Council 
specifications.
5. Parking and manoeuvring areas retained.
6. Construction traffic management.
7. No garage conversion into accommodation.
8. Wildlife protection (mitigation as approved).
9. Contaminated land (preliminary risk assessment).
10. Contaminated land - remediation strategy.
11. Scheme for external lighting.

Author:         Paul Bowers
E-mail :         paul.bowers@southandvale.gov.uk
Contact No:  01235 540546

Page 41

mailto:paul.bowers@southandvale.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 1

Page 43

Agenda Item 8



FB

48.6m

49.4m

T

r

a

c

k

The Paddocks

Cottage

Bloom

D

r

a

i

n

B

l

o

o

m

 

B

u

i

l

d

i

n

g

s

H

I

T

H

E

R

C

R

O

F

T

 

R

O

A

D

Barn 1

Barn 2

Barn 3

• All drawings are copyright

• Report all discrepancies to project administrator

• Do not scale drawing for construction purposes

• All dimensions to be checked on site

Scale DateDrawn Chkd

Job No Drawing No Rev

Project Title

Drawing Title

Ian Sullivan Architecture Ltd

101 Victoria Road, Swindon, Wiltshire SN1 3BD.

Tel/Fax   01793 612663  -  E-mail:- ian.sullivan@btconnect.com

MP ISA1 : 500 @ A2 Oct '16

2117 101 -

EXISTING SITE PLAN

Bloom Buildings

Cholsey

Oxfordshire

OX10 9LR

Rev Date             Description

Client

0 1m 2m 3m 4m 5m

SCALE 1:500

0
1

0
m

2
0

m
3

0
m

4
0

m
5

0
m

S
C

A
L

E
 
1

:
5

0
0

Appendix 2

P
age 44



P

a

t

h

 

(

u

m

)

FB

48.6m

48.7m

49.4m

Lollingdon

Little

T

r

a

c

k

2

5

2

7

FB

Cottage

Bloom

The Elms

Pancroft Barn

D

r

a

i

n

Site of Abbey

(Benedictine Founded c986)

Buildings

Bloom

The Paddocks

H

I

T

H

E

R

C

R

O

F

T

 

R

O

A

D

• All drawings are copyright

• Report all discrepancies to project administrator

• Do not scale drawing for construction purposes

• All dimensions to be checked on site

Scale DateDrawn Chkd

Job No Drawing No Rev

Project Title

Drawing Title

Ian Sullivan Architecture Ltd

101 Victoria Road, Swindon, Wiltshire SN1 3BD.

Tel/Fax   01793 612663  -  E-mail:- ian.sullivan@btconnect.com

MP IS1 : 2500 @ A4 Oct '16

2117 100 A

OS PLAN

Bloom Buildings

Cholsey

Oxfordshire

OX10 9LR

Rev Date             Description

Client

-

0 10 20 30 40 50

SCALE 1:2500

A 13.12.16   Redline updated in accordance with clients comments Page 45



4

FB

48.6m

49.4m

T

r

a

c

k

The Paddocks

Cottage

Bloom

D

r

a

i

n

Gravel

Gravel

Gravel

Grass

2

Lawn

3

Lawn

4

Lawn

5

Lawn

A

A

B

B

A

C

D

E

B

Tarmac to 6m

from carriageway

g

Gravel

Gravel

Grass

4

1

1

g

Gravel

Gravel

bs

bs

Existing hedgerow planting to be

retained and bolstered/replanted

where required.

Existing tree's to

boundary retained

Existing tree's to

boundary retained

Existing tree's to

boundary retained

Existing tree's to

boundary retained

Existing tree's to

boundary retained

Existing hedgerow planting to be

retained and bolstered/replanted

where required.

Existing hedgerow planting to be

retained and bolstered/replanted

where required.

Existing hedgerow planting to be

retained and bolstered/replanted

where required.

Existing tree's to

boundary retained

H

I

T

H

E

R

C

R

O

F

T

 

R

O

A

D

g

Existing access

to be closed

Granite

setts

C

C

D

D

5

5

g

bs

bs

• All drawings are copyright

• Report all discrepancies to project administrator

• Do not scale drawing for construction purposes

• All dimensions to be checked on site

Scale DateDrawn Chkd

Job No Drawing No Rev

Project Title

Drawing Title

Ian Sullivan Architecture Ltd

101 Victoria Road, Swindon, Wiltshire SN1 3BD.

Tel/Fax   01793 612663  -  E-mail:- ian.sullivan@btconnect.com

MP ISA1 : 500 @ A2 Oct '16

2117 200 B

PROPOSED SITE PLAN

Bloom Buildings

Cholsey

Oxfordshire

OX10 9LR

Rev Date             Description

Client

0 1m 2m 3m 4m 5m

SCALE 1:500

0
1

0
m

2
0

m
3

0
m

4
0

m
5

0
m

S
C

A
L

E
 
1

:
5

0
0

Access Door

Primary Access Door

Access Gate

LEGEND

Area to be Tarmac

Indicative Tree Planting

1.8m High Close Board Fence

Existing Trees and Hedges

Schedule

A = 1No. x 3 Beds

B = 1No. x 2 Beds

C = 1No. x 2 Beds

D = 1No. x 4 Beds

E = 1No. x 5 Beds

TOTAL = 5No.

BS

Bin Store

Area to be Grass

1.5m High post and rail Fence

Demolitions / To be removed

Drainage note:

- Foul to discharge into new

treatment plant

- Storm to discharge into new

soakaways

g

Root Protection Areas

A 13.12.16   Redline updated in accordance with clients comments

B 18.01.17   Hedgerow note revised to east, south and west boundaries

P
age 46



Roof finish to

match house

SIDE ELEVATION
FRONT ELEVATION REAR ELEVATION

SIDE ELEVATION

VERTICAL

CEDAR

BOARDING

RWP

VERTICAL

CEDAR

BOARDING

VERTICAL

CEDAR

BOARDING

VERTICAL

CEDAR

BOARDING

Roof finish to match house

timber fascia board

painted white.

timber fascia board

painted white.

RWP

Timber lintelTimber lintel

DPC

RWPRWP

Roof finish to

match house

GROUND FLOOR PLAN

Garage

Log Store

• All drawings are copyright

• Report all discrepancies to project administrator

• Do not scale drawing for construction purposes

• All dimensions to be checked on site

Scale DateDrawn Chkd

Job No Drawing No Rev

Project Title

Drawing Title

Ian Sullivan Architecture Ltd

101 Victoria Road, Swindon, Wiltshire SN1 3BD.

Tel/Fax   01793 612663  -  E-mail:- ian.sullivan@btconnect.com

MP ISA1 : 100 @ A2 Oct '16

2117 214 -

PROPOSED CARBARNS

Bloom Buildings

Cholsey

Oxfordshire

OX10 9LR

Rev Date             Description

Client

-

0 1m 2m 3m 4m 5m

SCALE 1:100

PROPOSED

CARBARNS

P
age 47



GREY POWDERCOATED ALUMINIUM WINDOWS

FRONT ELEVATION SIDE ELEVATION 1

SIDE ELEVATION 2

GREY PAINTED STEEL FRAME VERTICAL CEDAR BOARDING

GREY POWDERCOATED ALUMINIUM WINDOWS ZINC ROOFING

REAR ELEVATION

GREY PAINTED STEEL FRAME VERTICAL CEDAR BOARDING

GREY POWDERCOATED ALUMINIUM WINDOWSZINC ROOFING

ENTRANCE HALL

GROUND FLOOR PLAN

DINING

KITCHEN

SITTING ROOM

UTILITY

Cupd

WC

C
O

A
T

S

STUDY

BEDROOM 1

BEDROOM 2

FIRST FLOOR PLAN

ES-1

w

HOME OFFICE

ES-3

BEDROOM 3

w

LANDING

AC

C

ES-2

w

• All drawings are copyright

• Report all discrepancies to project administrator

• Do not scale drawing for construction purposes

• All dimensions to be checked on site

Scale DateDrawn Chkd

Job No Drawing No Rev

Project Title

Drawing Title

Ian Sullivan Architecture Ltd

101 Victoria Road, Swindon, Wiltshire SN1 3BD.

Tel/Fax   01793 612663  -  E-mail:- ian.sullivan@btconnect.com

MP ISA1 : 100 @ A2 Oct '16

2117 210 -

TYPE A HOUSETYPE

Bloom Buildings

Cholsey

Oxfordshire

OX10 9LR

Rev Date             Description

Client

-

0 1m 2m 3m 4m 5m

SCALE 1:100

P
age 48



FRONT ELEVATION SIDE ELEVATION 1

SIDE ELEVATION 2

GREY PAINTED STEEL FRAME VERTICAL CEDAR BOARDING

GREY POWDERCOATED ALUMINIUM WINDOWS ZINC ROOFING

REAR ELEVATION

GREY PAINTED STEEL FRAME VERTICAL CEDAR BOARDING

GREY POWDERCOATED ALUMINIUM WINDOWSZINC ROOFING

Type B plot 2

Type C plot 3

Type C plot 3

Type B plot 2

GROUND FLOOR PLAN

KITCHEN

SITTING ROOM

WC / UTILITY

Type B plot 2 Type C plot 3

DINING

STUDY

KITCHEN

SITTING ROOM

WC / UTILITY

DINING

STUDY

FIRST FLOOR PLAN

BEDROOM 1

ES-1

BEDROOM 2

w

AC

C

LANDING

w

Bathroom

BEDROOM 1

ES-1

BEDROOM 2

w

AC

C

LANDING

w

Bathroom

Type B plot 2 Type C plot 3

• All drawings are copyright

• Report all discrepancies to project administrator

• Do not scale drawing for construction purposes

• All dimensions to be checked on site

Scale DateDrawn Chkd

Job No Drawing No Rev

Project Title

Drawing Title

Ian Sullivan Architecture Ltd

101 Victoria Road, Swindon, Wiltshire SN1 3BD.

Tel/Fax   01793 612663  -  E-mail:- ian.sullivan@btconnect.com

MP ISA1 : 100 @ A2 Oct '16

2117 211 -

TYPE B & C HOUSETYPE

Bloom Buildings

Cholsey

Oxfordshire

OX10 9LR

Rev Date             Description

Client

-

0 1m 2m 3m 4m 5m

SCALE 1:100

P
age 49



FRONT ELEVATION SIDE ELEVATION 1

SIDE ELEVATION 2

GREY PAINTED STEEL FRAMEVERTICAL CEDAR BOARDING

GREY POWDERCOATED ALUMINIUM WINDOWS

GREY POWDERCOATED ALUMINIUM WINDOWS

ZINC ROOFING

REAR ELEVATION

GREY PAINTED STEEL FRAMEVERTICAL CEDAR BOARDING

GREY POWDERCOATED ALUMINIUM WINDOWS ZINC ROOFING

GROUND FLOOR PLAN

DINING

UTILITY

ENTRANCE HALL

KITCHEN

UTILITY

Cupd

STUDY

C
O

A
T

S

WC

SITTING ROOM

BEDROOM 3

BEDROOM 4

ES-3

FIRST FLOOR PLAN

BEDROOM 1

ES-1

w

ES-2

BEDROOM 2

w

AC

C

LANDING

w

BATH

• All drawings are copyright

• Report all discrepancies to project administrator

• Do not scale drawing for construction purposes

• All dimensions to be checked on site

Scale DateDrawn Chkd

Job No Drawing No Rev

Project Title

Drawing Title

Ian Sullivan Architecture Ltd

101 Victoria Road, Swindon, Wiltshire SN1 3BD.

Tel/Fax   01793 612663  -  E-mail:- ian.sullivan@btconnect.com

MP ISA1 : 100 @ A2 Oct '16

2117 212 -

TYPE D HOUSETYPE

Bloom Buildings

Cholsey

Oxfordshire

OX10 9LR

Rev Date             Description

Client

-

0 1m 2m 3m 4m 5m

SCALE 1:100

P
age 50



FRONT ELEVATION SIDE ELEVATION 1

SIDE ELEVATION 2 REAR ELEVATION

GREY POWDERCOATED ALUMINIUM WINDOWS GREY SLATE

VERTICAL CEDAR BOARDING

KITCHEN

STUDY

GROUND FLOOR PLAN

UTILITY

WC

FAMILY ROOM

DINING

SITTING ROOM

ENTRANCE HALL

SNUG

BEDROOM 2

BEDROOM 1

BATHROOM

FIRST FLOOR PLAN

LANDING

w

EN-SUITE 2

w

EN-SUITE 1

BEDROOM 3

BEDROOM 4

BEDROOM 5

AC

• All drawings are copyright

• Report all discrepancies to project administrator

• Do not scale drawing for construction purposes

• All dimensions to be checked on site

Scale DateDrawn Chkd

Job No Drawing No Rev

Project Title

Drawing Title

Ian Sullivan Architecture Ltd

101 Victoria Road, Swindon, Wiltshire SN1 3BD.

Tel/Fax   01793 612663  -  E-mail:- ian.sullivan@btconnect.com

MP ISA1 : 100 @ A2 Oct '16

2117 213 -

TYPE E HOUSETYPE

Bloom Buildings

Cholsey

Oxfordshire

OX10 9LR

Rev Date             Description

Client

-

0 1m 2m 3m 4m 5m

SCALE 1:100

P
age 51



LAWNACCESS PLOT 4

Existing hedgerow planting to be

retained and bolstered/replanted

where required.

Existing hedgerow planting to be

retained and bolstered/replanted

where required.

LAWN PLOT 5

PLOT 3 LAWNPLOT 5 FIELDPARKING PARKINGLAWN

• All drawings are copyright

• Report all discrepancies to project administrator

• Do not scale drawing for construction purposes

• All dimensions to be checked on site

Scale DateDrawn Chkd

Job No Drawing No Rev

Project Title

Drawing Title

Ian Sullivan Architecture Ltd

101 Victoria Road, Swindon, Wiltshire SN1 3BD.

Tel/Fax   01793 612663  -  E-mail:- ian.sullivan@btconnect.com

MP ISA1 : 200 @ A2 Oct '16

2117 251 A

PROPOSED STREET SCENES 2

Bloom Buildings

Cholsey

Oxfordshire

OX10 9LR

Rev Date             Description

Client

-

0 1m 2m 3m 4m 5m

SCALE 1:200

A 18.01.17   Hedgerow note revised to east, south and west boundaries

P
age 52



PLOT 1 LAWNPARKING PLOT 2 PLOT 4

Existing hedgerow planting to be

retained and bolstered/replanted

where required.

Existing hedgerow planting to be

retained and bolstered/replanted

where required.

LANE FIELDFIELD LAWN PLOT 3

PLOT 5 LAWN FIELD

Existing hedgerow planting to be

retained and bolstered/replanted

where required.

PARKING

• All drawings are copyright

• Report all discrepancies to project administrator

• Do not scale drawing for construction purposes

• All dimensions to be checked on site

Scale DateDrawn Chkd

Job No Drawing No Rev

Project Title

Drawing Title

Ian Sullivan Architecture Ltd

101 Victoria Road, Swindon, Wiltshire SN1 3BD.

Tel/Fax   01793 612663  -  E-mail:- ian.sullivan@btconnect.com

MP ISA1 : 200 @ A2 Oct '16

2117 250 A

PROPOSED STREET SCENES

Bloom Buildings

Cholsey

Oxfordshire

OX10 9LR

Rev Date             Description

Client

-

0 1m 2m 3m 4m 5m

SCALE 1:200

A 18.01.17   Hedgerow note revised to east, south and west boundaries

P
age 53



T
his page is intentionally left blank



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 13 March 2017

APPLICATION NO. P16/S4236/O
APPLICATION TYPE OUTLINE
REGISTERED 22.12.2016
PARISH CHOLSEY
WARD MEMBER(S) Jane Murphy

Pat Dawe
APPLICANT Mr John Mostyn
SITE 14 Ilges Lane Cholsey, OX10 9NX
PROPOSAL Demolition of existing bungalow and erection of one 

pair of semi-detached dwellings and one detached 
dwelling with shared access. 

AMENDMENTS As amended by revised plans received on 07 
February 2017 and by Swept Path drawings 
received on 24 February 2017.

GRID REFERENCE 458962/186547
OFFICER Gabriella Brown

1.0 INTRODUCTION
1.1 The application has been referred to the Planning Committee because the officer 

recommendation conflicts with that of the Parish Council.

1.2 The application site is shown on the OS extract attached at Appendix 1 and it 
measures some 0.09 hectares. 14 Ilges Lane is a detached bungalow and it sits in an 
elevated position above the road. It is located within the built-up limits of Cholsey at 
the centre of the village. The property is served by a vehicular access leading to an 
off-road parking area and there is a private garden to the rear. The site is not located 
within a specially designated area.

2.0 PROPOSAL
2.1 This application seeks outline planning permission for the demolition of the existing 

bungalow and the erection of three new dwellings comprising one pair of semi-
detached houses and one detached house. The access and scale of the development 
are under consideration with all other matters reserved (Appearance, Landscaping and 
Layout).

2.2 Amended plans have been received during the course of the application in an attempt 
to address concerns raised by Cholsey Parish Council (CPC) and SODC officers. 
Initially a terrace of three no. three bedroom properties was proposed but this has since 
been changed to two three bedroom dwellings and one two bedroom dwelling in the 
form of a pair of semi’s and a detached unit in order to provide a mix of unit sizes.

2.3 In response to CPC’s representation on the amended scheme, revised Swept Path 
Analysis drawings have also been submitted which clarify that the existing access 
would serve the properties and that it is not the intention to open up the whole frontage 
of the site as was shown on the original technical drawings.
 

2.3 The plans of the proposed development are attached at Appendix 2. Full details of the 
application and the consultation responses can be viewed on the Council’s website at 
www.southoxon.gov.uk

Page 55

Agenda Item 9

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P16/S4236/O
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 13 March 2017

3.0 SUMMARY OF CONSULTATIONS & REPRESENTATIONS
3.1 Original Scheme

Cholsey Parish Council – Object. The Parish Council are concerned that the 
entrance/exit would be hazardous to traffic on Ilges Lane which is very narrow.
The proposed houses are out of character with other properties on Ilges Lane
and would have a detrimental, urbanising effect on the street scene - there are
no other terraced houses on Ilges Lane. Concerns were raised about overlooking of 
other properties and the loss of a bungalow in the village. The Parish Council consider 
that the proposal is overdevelopment

Highways Liaison Officer (Oxfordshire County Council) - The proposal seeks the 
construction of three, three-bedroom dwellings. Given the characteristics of the 
carriageway, vehicular traffic and speeds are likely to be low. The proposal is unlikely to 
have a significant adverse impact on the highway network. After investigation and 
reviewing the supplied documents, the Highway Authority has no objection subject to 
the above condition(s) being applied to any permission which may be granted on the 
basis of highway safety.

Neighbour Representations ( 5)-  The neighbour representations can be summarised 
as follows:

- We live opposite the property and the proposal to erect a terrace of three houses will  
  destroy our privacy 
- The houses will be able to look directly into our sitting room and front bedrooms giving  
  us no privacy whatsoever
- There are bunglaows either side of the property and squeezing theree dwellings in will  
  destory the character of Ilges Lane
- It would be more fitting to build bungalows 
- This propsoal represents an overdevelopment of the plot 
- Guests to the new houses would park on the lane and this would be a major hazard,   
  especially to children using the adjacent alley on their way to school 
- The development would dwarf the adjacent bugalows

Amended Scheme
Cholsey Parish Council – Object. The Parish Council maintains its objections to this 
proposal on the following grounds. The Highway Officer's conditions refer to the access 
being laid out in accordance with plan BS 336-003 OP1 which purports to show a single 
point of access where the existing one is. The manoeuvring diagram in the Appendix to
the planning statement shows a completely different arrangement with cars
accessing/exiting along the complete frontage. The parking and manoeuvring plan 
which appears to show the whole frontage being a dropped kerb access arrangement is 
out of keeping with Ilges Lane. Ilges Lane is very varied in appearance but it generally 
retains its original character as a small semi rural lane, with houses set in relatively 
spacious plots allowing for trees and shrubs to soften the appearance of buildings
Ilges Lane gets quite steep and the adjacent site to the south has a garage or
something on the road frontage and will interfere with sight lines.

Highways Liaison Officer (Oxfordshire County Council) – No objection. The
current proposal has changed a number of points none of which alter the previous 
Highway Authority comments. Conditions recommended

Neighbour Representations (6)-  The neighbour representations can be summarised 

Page 56



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 13 March 2017

as follows:

- This is still an unacceptable amount of building for the site. It is also on a
  dangerous curve in the lane and the access could cause an accident
- My concern is for the amount of parking in the lane which is already a problem
- The development would overlook the properties on the opposite side of the lane 
- The development extends across the whole width of the site and is too intensive
- Bungalows would be much more in keeping with the character of the lane
- The plans show upper storey rear windows within 8.5 m of my chalet bedroom   
   windows. My privacy would be seriously compromised by this development

4.0 RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY
4.1 P88/W0025 - Approved (01/03/1988)

Conversion of existing workshop/store to bedroom and ensuite bathroom. Kitchen 
extension.  (Retrospective)

P64/R2980 - Approved (06/11/1964)
Proposed bungalow and garage

P63/R2495 - Approved (07/06/1963)
Proposed site for dwelling

P52/R0432 - Approved (16/04/1952)
Proposed bungalow

5.0 POLICY & GUIDANCE
5.1 South Oxfordshire Core Strategy policies;

CS1  -  Presumption in favour of sustainable development
CSQ3  -  Design
CSR1  -  Housing in villages
CSS1  -  The Overall Strategy

5.2 South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2011 policies;

G2  -  Protect district from adverse development
H4  -  Housing sites in towns and larger villages outside Green Belt
T1  -  Safe, convenient and adequate highway network for all users
T2  -  Unloading, turning and parking for all highway users

5.3 National Planning Policy Framework

National Planning Policy Framework Planning Practice Guidance

South Oxfordshire Design Guide 2016

Cholsey Neighbourhood Plan – The Plan Area was designated on 04 August 2016 and 
the Parish are currently in the early stages of preparing their plan. It therefore holds 
limited weight at this time.

6.0 PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS
6.1 The main considerations in the determination of the application are:

 Principle and housing land supply

Page 57

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P88/W0025
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P64/R2980
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P63/R2495
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P52/R0432


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 13 March 2017

 Sustainability of the site
 Scale of the development
 Highway impacts
 Infrastructure
 Other considerations

6.2 The principle of the proposed development and the council’s current housing 
land supply position. Section 38 (6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 
2004 requires applications for planning permission be determined in accordance with 
the Development Plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise. Section 70 (2) 
of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 provides that the local planning authority 
shall have regard to the provisions of the Development Plan, so far as material to the 
application, and to any other material considerations.  In the case of this application, 
the most relevant parts of the Development Plan are the Core Strategy which was 
adopted in December 2012 and the saved policies of the South Oxfordshire Local Plan 
2011.

6.3 The National Planning Policy Framework advises that there is a presumption in favour 
of sustainable development. For decision-taking this means approving development 
proposals that accord with the development plan without delay; and where the 
development plan is absent, silent or relevant policies are out-of-date, granting 
permission unless: – any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and 
demonstrably outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the policies in this 
Framework taken as a whole; or – specific policies in this Framework indicate 
development should be restricted.”

6.4 This is echoed within policy CS1 of the South Oxfordshire Core Strategy. Policy CSS1 
of the approved Core Strategy sets out the overall development strategy for the District 
and advises that proposals should be consistent with the overall strategy of focusing 
major new development in Didcot; supporting the roles of Henley, Thame and 
Wallingford by regenerating town centres and providing new housing, services & 
infrastructure; supporting the 12 larger villages of the District as local service centres; 
supporting the other villages by allowing for limited amounts of housing; and outside of 
the above areas, any changes will need to relate to very specific needs.

6.5 The Council do not currently have a 5 year housing land supply and therefore, the 
presumption in favour of sustainable development, set out in Paragraph 14 of the 
NPPF, applies. This means  that our core strategy housing policies, including SOCS 
Policy CSR1 relating to  housing in villages, are out of date and are given less weight in 
our decision making. Sustainable development should now be permitted unless there is 
planning harm that outweighs the benefit of providing new housing.

6.6 We will address our current housing supply position by working with neighbourhood 
planning groups, town and parish councils and rapidly progress the review of our Local 
Plan 2031. We will also strongly resist applications which do not represent sustainable 
development.

6.7 Sustainability of the site. The 'network of settlements' under policy CSS1 remains a 
good basis for determining where within the district 'sustainable locations' for 
development are. Cholsey is categorised at Appendix 4 of the SOCS as a larger village. 
Policy CSR1 of the SOCS permits infill development within the built up limits of the 
larger villages and infill is defined in the supporting text to the policy as “the filling of a 
small gap in an otherwise built-up frontage or on other sites within settlements where 
the site is closely surrounded by buildings”. The policy goes on to state that 
“Redevelopment proposals in all categories of settlement may be acceptable but will be

Page 58



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 13 March 2017

considered on a case by case basis through the development management process in 
line with other policies in the Development Plan”.

6.8 14 Ilges Lane is located within the built-up limits of the settlement and it is surrounded 
on all four sides by other dwellings. The site is situated at a distance of just 180 metres 
from the village centre. Cholsey village benefits from a number of facilities including a 
primary school, a church, two public houses, several local shops including a pharmacy 
and Tesco Metro, and a pavilion containing a community run café and library. The 
village also benefits from a railway station offering connections to London, Didcot, 
Reading and Oxford. The village is located approximately 3 miles from Wallingford, the 
local market town and a new footpath along Reading Road allows for pedestrian 
access between the two settlements. Facilities are therefore within short walking and 
cycling distance and the site adjoins existing residential development with good 
connections to local services and facilities. 

6.9 Your officers therefore consider that the site does constitute an infill plot in a 
sustainable location and that the principle of the proposed residential redevelopment is 
acceptable. 

6.10 Scale of the development. Concerns have been raised by CPC and local residents 
about the density of development that is proposed and the impact that it would have on 
the established character of the area. Ilges Lane (up to where is turns in to a public 
right of way some 325 m to the east of the application site) is lined on both sides by a 
continuous ribbon of residential development and there are further, more modern 
residential streets and cul-de-sacs projecting off it to both the north and south. The 
character of development on Ilges Lane is mixed and it features modern detached 
dwellings, post-war semi’s, terraced properties and bungalows as well as historic 
cottages. Modern infilling has occurred including, most recently at No.53 Ilges Lane. 
Some of the dwellings on the lane abut the highway whilst others are set further back in 
their plots like the existing bungalow at 14 Ilges Lane and the 1960’s semi’s directly 
opposite the application site which have parking areas on the site frontage. The three 
proposed dwellings would be set even further back from the highway than the existing 
bungalow and at more than 26 metres wide, the site is wider than the combined width 
of the plots belonging to No’s 33, 35 and 37 Ilges Lane directly opposite the site (those 
three plots measure 25 metres wide). In addition, the width of the plot at No.53 where a 
new detached dwelling has recently been constructed together with No.55 Ilges Lane is 
only slightly wider than the application site at some 28.5 metres. As such, your officers 
consider that the plot can accommodate three dwellings without appearing cramped 
and out of keeping with the established density of development in the area.

6.11 In assessing further whether a proposal would constitute overdevelopment it can be 
useful to look at whether the required level of off-road parking can be met and/or the 
required amenity area(s) provided. In this instance, the council’s maximum parking 
standards can be achieved and each of the three gardens would comply with the 
council’s amenity standard. Furthermore, at 10 metres deep the rear gardens comply 
with the South Oxfordshire Design Guide requirement that the distance between the 
rear of the property and the rear boundary of the plot should be not less than 10 m 
(p.42 of the SODG 2016).

6.12 The proposed dwellings would be two storeys in height and they would be no higher 
than other two storey properties in the immediate area. 

6.13 Concerns have been raised by neighbours on the opposite side of Ilges Lane that the 
development would introduce a new level of overlooking of their properties that does 
not currently exist. However, although only indicative at this stage, the site plan shows 

Page 59



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 13 March 2017

that a distance of 28 metres could be achieved between the front of the new dwellings 
and those on the opposite side of the road. The council's recommended minimum 
distance between habitable rooms of properties facing each other is 10 metres (as set 
out in Section 7 of the South Oxfordshire Design Guide 2016). 

6.14 Your officers are also satisfied that an acceptable relationship with the adjacent 
property, No.16 Ilges Lane could be achieved if the new dwellings are sited wholly in 
front of that dwelling as per the submitted site plan. 

6.15 Given the outline nature of the scheme, your officers consider that matters relating to 
the amenity of neighbouring residents could be adequately addressed at the reserved 
matters stage when the detailed design of the scheme is under consideration. 

6.16 Having regard to the above your officer’s consider that the proposal makes good use of 
the site which is in a sustainable location at the centre of the village. The density and 
scale of the proposed development is comparable to that of existing development in the 
locality such that it would not detract from the character of the area. 

6.17 Highway Impacts. The existing access in to the site is to be improved and altered to 
allow it to serve the three proposed dwellings. The OCC highway officer has considered 
the proposals and has concluded that, given the characteristics of the carriageway, 
vehicular traffic and speeds are likely to be low on Ilges Lane. He is satisfied that the 
intensification of vehicle movements in to and out of the site as a result of the proposed 
development would not have a significant adverse impact on the highway network and 
the council’s maximum parking standard for each of the dwellings can be met. Should 
planning permission be granted for the development the highway officer has 
recommended that conditions are imposed which secure improvements to the existing 
access, the provision and retention of the parking and manoeuvring areas and a 
stipulation that surface water from the site should not be discharged on to the highway. 
He has also recommended that the applicant be required to submit a Construction 
Traffic Management Plan (CTMP) in order to mitigate the impact of construction 
vehicles on the surrounding highway network, road infrastructure and local residents, 
particularly at morning and afternoon peak traffic times. To conclude therefore, the 
technical expert has raised no objection to the proposed development on highway 
safety grounds.

6.18 Infrastructure. The Council has adopted the Community Infrastructure Levy (April 
2016). In Cholsey the CIL residential rate is £156 per sq. m. Monies will be levied on 
gross internal floorspace (in accordance with the CIL Regulations 2010 as amended).
The CIL liability will be known at a detailed stage once the amount of floorspace is 
known. The CIL monies will be payable upon commencement. 

7.0 CONCLUSION
7.1 The development site is in a sustainable location within the built-up limits of one of the 

district’s larger villages. The NPPF advises a presumption in favour of sustainable 
development and where there is a lack of 5 year housing supply, paragraph 49 is 
engaged, determining that housing policies restricting the supply of housing are out of 
date. Paragraph 14 requires that the council should grant permission unless any 
adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the 
benefits. 

7.2 The land is not protected by either landscape designations or a policy requirement on 
retaining bungalows. The development is of a scale that is appropriate to its location 
and the council’s parking and amenity standards can be met. The development would 
not have an adverse impact on the local highway network and your officers consider 

Page 60



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 13 March 2017

that the redevelopment of the site represents a good use of the land.

8.0 RECOMMENDATION
8.1 To grant outline planning permission subject to:

1. Commencement - outline with reserved matters.
2. Approved plans.
3. Means of access onto Ilges Lane, Cholsey is to be formed and laid out and   

constructed strictly in accordance with the local highway authority’s 
specifications.

4. Parking and manoeuvring areas to be provided and retained unobstructed 
at all times.

5. Construction traffic management to be submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority prior to the commencement of 
development.

6. No surface water drainage to highway.

Author: Gabriella Brown
Contact No: 01235 422600
Email: planning@southoxon.gov.uk

Page 61



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 1

Page 63

Agenda Item 9



IIges Ln

P
a
n
te

rs
 R

d

IIges Ln

12/12/2016

OP1

OUTLINE PLANNING
ARCHITECTURAL ISSUE FOR:

DRAWING NUMBER: REVISION:

SCALE: CHECKED BY:

DATE: DRAWN BY:

JB

DJC

DRAWING TITLE:

DRAWING INFORMATION

PROJECT ADDRESS:

CONTRACT:

CLIENT:

PROJECT INFORMATION

2 St Mary's Court, Wallingford, Oxfordshire, OX10 0EB
Tel: 01491 826515 Fax: 01491 826044

www.carrollandpartners.co.uk

REVISIONS:

© CARROLL & PARTNERS 2004
This drawing and the copyrights and patents therein are the property of the Architect and may
not be used or reproduced without consent.

Examine this drawing carefully & report immediately any content not in accordance with the
requirements.

Do not scale dimensions from this drawing.

All dimensions and levels to be checked on site by contractor prior to preparation of shop
drawings and commencement of works on site.

This drawing is to be read in conjunction with all relevant consultants and/or specialist's
drawings/documents and any discrepancies or variations are to be notified to the architect
before the affected work commences.

All works on site are to be carried out fully in accordance with current CDM regulations and
recommendations.

NOTES:

@A3

BS336-

 1 : 500

Proposed Block Plan

14 Ilges Lane, Cholsey, OX10 9NX

14 Ilges Lane

John Mostyn

002

 1 : 500

Proposed Block Plan
1

North

VISUAL SCALE 1:500  @ A3

50m10m 40m30m20m0m

OP0

REV. DATE DESCRIPTION DWN. CHK.

12/12/2016 ISSUED FOR OUTLINE PLANNING JB DJC

06/02/2017 REISSUED FOR OUTLINE PLANNING JB DJCOP1

Appendix 2

P
age 64



200

1

2011

200

2

201 2

3129

16

12/12/2016

OP1

OUTLINE PLANNING
ARCHITECTURAL ISSUE FOR:

DRAWING NUMBER: REVISION:

SCALE: CHECKED BY:

DATE: DRAWN BY:

JB

DJC

DRAWING TITLE:

DRAWING INFORMATION

PROJECT ADDRESS:

CONTRACT:

CLIENT:

PROJECT INFORMATION

2 St Mary's Court, Wallingford, Oxfordshire, OX10 0EB
Tel: 01491 826515 Fax: 01491 826044

www.carrollandpartners.co.uk

REVISIONS:

© CARROLL & PARTNERS 2004
This drawing and the copyrights and patents therein are the property of the Architect and may
not be used or reproduced without consent.

Examine this drawing carefully & report immediately any content not in accordance with the
requirements.

Do not scale dimensions from this drawing.

All dimensions and levels to be checked on site by contractor prior to preparation of shop
drawings and commencement of works on site.

This drawing is to be read in conjunction with all relevant consultants and/or specialist's
drawings/documents and any discrepancies or variations are to be notified to the architect
before the affected work commences.

All works on site are to be carried out fully in accordance with current CDM regulations and
recommendations.

NOTES:

@A3

BS336-

 1 : 200

Proposed Site Plan

14 Ilges Lane, Cholsey, OX10 9NX

14 Ilges Lane

John Mostyn

003 1 : 200

Proposed Site Plan
1

VISUAL SCALE 1:200  @ A3

20m4m 16m12m8m0m

North

OP0

OP1

REV. DATE DESCRIPTION DWN. CHK.

12/12/2016 ISSUED FOR OUTLINE PLANNING JB DJC

06/02/2017 REISSUED FOR OUTLINE PLANNING JB DJC

P
age 65



12/12/2016

OP1

OUTLINE PLANNING
ARCHITECTURAL ISSUE FOR:

DRAWING NUMBER: REVISION:

SCALE: CHECKED BY:

DATE: DRAWN BY:

JB

DJC

DRAWING TITLE:

DRAWING INFORMATION

PROJECT ADDRESS:

CONTRACT:

CLIENT:

PROJECT INFORMATION

2 St Mary's Court, Wallingford, Oxfordshire, OX10 0EB
Tel: 01491 826515 Fax: 01491 826044

www.carrollandpartners.co.uk

REVISIONS:

© CARROLL & PARTNERS 2004
This drawing and the copyrights and patents therein are the property of the Architect and may
not be used or reproduced without consent.

Examine this drawing carefully & report immediately any content not in accordance with the
requirements.

Do not scale dimensions from this drawing.

All dimensions and levels to be checked on site by contractor prior to preparation of shop
drawings and commencement of works on site.

This drawing is to be read in conjunction with all relevant consultants and/or specialist's
drawings/documents and any discrepancies or variations are to be notified to the architect
before the affected work commences.

All works on site are to be carried out fully in accordance with current CDM regulations and
recommendations.

NOTES:

@A3

BS336-

 1 : 100

Proposed Elevation

14 Ilges Lane, Cholsey, OX10 9NX

14 Ilges Lane

John Mostyn

200

 1 : 100

North
1

 1 : 100

South
2

VISUAL SCALE 1:100  @ A3

10m2m 8m6m4m0m

OP0

OP1

REV. DATE DESCRIPTION DWN. CHK.

12/12/2016 ISSUED FOR OUTLINE PLANNING JB DJC

06/02/2017 REISSUED FOR OUTLINE PLANNING JB DJC

P
age 66



12/12/2016

OP1

OUTLINE PLANNING
ARCHITECTURAL ISSUE FOR:

DRAWING NUMBER: REVISION:

SCALE: CHECKED BY:

DATE: DRAWN BY:

JB

DJC

DRAWING TITLE:

DRAWING INFORMATION

PROJECT ADDRESS:

CONTRACT:

CLIENT:

PROJECT INFORMATION

2 St Mary's Court, Wallingford, Oxfordshire, OX10 0EB
Tel: 01491 826515 Fax: 01491 826044

www.carrollandpartners.co.uk

REVISIONS:

© CARROLL & PARTNERS 2004
This drawing and the copyrights and patents therein are the property of the Architect and may
not be used or reproduced without consent.

Examine this drawing carefully & report immediately any content not in accordance with the
requirements.

Do not scale dimensions from this drawing.

All dimensions and levels to be checked on site by contractor prior to preparation of shop
drawings and commencement of works on site.

This drawing is to be read in conjunction with all relevant consultants and/or specialist's
drawings/documents and any discrepancies or variations are to be notified to the architect
before the affected work commences.

All works on site are to be carried out fully in accordance with current CDM regulations and
recommendations.

NOTES:

@A3

BS336-

 1 : 100

Proposed Elevation

14 Ilges Lane, Cholsey, OX10 9NX

14 Ilges Lane

John Mostyn

201

 1 : 100

East
1

 1 : 100

West
2

VISUAL SCALE 1:100  @ A3

10m2m 8m6m4m0m

OP0

OP1

REV. DATE DESCRIPTION DWN. CHK.

12/12/2016 ISSUED FOR OUTLINE PLANNING JB DJC

06/02/2017 REISSUED FOR OUTLINE PLANNING JB DJC

P
age 67



UP

B
in

 S
to

re2
4
0
L

2
4
0
L

2
4
0
L

Cycle Store

Cycle Store

Cycle Store

12/12/2016

OP1

OUTLINE PLANNING
ARCHITECTURAL ISSUE FOR:

DRAWING NUMBER: REVISION:

SCALE: CHECKED BY:

DATE: DRAWN BY:

JB

DJC

DRAWING TITLE:

DRAWING INFORMATION

PROJECT ADDRESS:

CONTRACT:

CLIENT:

PROJECT INFORMATION

2 St Mary's Court, Wallingford, Oxfordshire, OX10 0EB
Tel: 01491 826515 Fax: 01491 826044

www.carrollandpartners.co.uk

REVISIONS:

© CARROLL & PARTNERS 2004
This drawing and the copyrights and patents therein are the property of the Architect and may
not be used or reproduced without consent.

Examine this drawing carefully & report immediately any content not in accordance with the
requirements.

Do not scale dimensions from this drawing.

All dimensions and levels to be checked on site by contractor prior to preparation of shop
drawings and commencement of works on site.

This drawing is to be read in conjunction with all relevant consultants and/or specialist's
drawings/documents and any discrepancies or variations are to be notified to the architect
before the affected work commences.

All works on site are to be carried out fully in accordance with current CDM regulations and
recommendations.

NOTES:

@A3

BS336-

 1 : 100

Proposed Ground Floor

14 Ilges Lane, Cholsey, OX10 9NX

14 Ilges Lane

John Mostyn

100 1 : 100

Proposed Ground Floor
1

North

VISUAL SCALE 1:100  @ A3

10m2m 8m6m4m0m

OP0

REV. DATE DESCRIPTION DWN. CHK.

12/12/2016 ISSUED FOR OUTLINE PLANNING JB DJC

06/02/2017 REISSUED FOR OUTLINE PLANNING JB DJCOP1

P
age 68



DN

12/12/2016

OP1

OUTLINE PLANNING
ARCHITECTURAL ISSUE FOR:

DRAWING NUMBER: REVISION:

SCALE: CHECKED BY:

DATE: DRAWN BY:

JB

DJC

DRAWING TITLE:

DRAWING INFORMATION

PROJECT ADDRESS:

CONTRACT:

CLIENT:

PROJECT INFORMATION

2 St Mary's Court, Wallingford, Oxfordshire, OX10 0EB
Tel: 01491 826515 Fax: 01491 826044

www.carrollandpartners.co.uk

REVISIONS:

© CARROLL & PARTNERS 2004
This drawing and the copyrights and patents therein are the property of the Architect and may
not be used or reproduced without consent.

Examine this drawing carefully & report immediately any content not in accordance with the
requirements.

Do not scale dimensions from this drawing.

All dimensions and levels to be checked on site by contractor prior to preparation of shop
drawings and commencement of works on site.

This drawing is to be read in conjunction with all relevant consultants and/or specialist's
drawings/documents and any discrepancies or variations are to be notified to the architect
before the affected work commences.

All works on site are to be carried out fully in accordance with current CDM regulations and
recommendations.

NOTES:

@A3

BS336-

 1 : 100

Proposed First Floor

14 Ilges Lane, Cholsey, OX10 9NX

14 Ilges Lane

John Mostyn

101

 1 : 100

Proposed First Floor
1

North

VISUAL SCALE 1:100  @ A3

10m2m 8m6m4m0m

OP0

REV. DATE DESCRIPTION DWN. CHK.

12/12/2016 ISSUED FOR OUTLINE PLANNING JB DJC

06/02/2017 REISSUED FOR OUTLINE PLANNING JB DJCOP1

P
age 69



2011

12/12/2016

OP1

OUTLINE PLANNING
ARCHITECTURAL ISSUE FOR:

DRAWING NUMBER: REVISION:

SCALE: CHECKED BY:

DATE: DRAWN BY:

JB

DJC

DRAWING TITLE:

DRAWING INFORMATION

PROJECT ADDRESS:

CONTRACT:

CLIENT:

PROJECT INFORMATION

2 St Mary's Court, Wallingford, Oxfordshire, OX10 0EB
Tel: 01491 826515 Fax: 01491 826044

www.carrollandpartners.co.uk

REVISIONS:

© CARROLL & PARTNERS 2004
This drawing and the copyrights and patents therein are the property of the Architect and may
not be used or reproduced without consent.

Examine this drawing carefully & report immediately any content not in accordance with the
requirements.

Do not scale dimensions from this drawing.

All dimensions and levels to be checked on site by contractor prior to preparation of shop
drawings and commencement of works on site.

This drawing is to be read in conjunction with all relevant consultants and/or specialist's
drawings/documents and any discrepancies or variations are to be notified to the architect
before the affected work commences.

All works on site are to be carried out fully in accordance with current CDM regulations and
recommendations.

NOTES:

@A3

BS336-

 1 : 100

Proposed Roof Plan

14 Ilges Lane, Cholsey, OX10 9NX

14 Ilges Lane

John Mostyn

102

 1 : 100

Proposed Roof Plan
1

North

VISUAL SCALE 1:500  @ A3

50m10m 40m30m20m0m

OP0

REV. DATE DESCRIPTION DWN. CHK.

12/12/2016 ISSUED FOR OUTLINE PLANNING JB DJC

06/02/2017 REISSUED FOR OUTLINE PLANNING JB DJCOP1

P
age 70



Drawing No.

Rev

Date :

Scale :

Status :

Project Engineer :

Project Director   :

Title :

Project :

Client :

Rev. Description

Chkd

postbox@glanvillegroup.com  www.glanvillegroup.com

Glanville

62 Foxhall Road, Didcot

Oxon, OX11 7AD

Date

Tel: (01235) 515550  Fax: (01235) 817799

Cornerstone House

8161308/6202

John Mostyn

14 Ilges Lane

Cholsey, OX10 9NX

Swept Path Analysis

Car

B. East

T. Foxall

1:250 @ A3

February 2017

ENTRY

EXIT

ENTRY

EXIT

ENTRY

EXIT

P
age 71

AutoCAD SHX Text
NOTES

AutoCAD SHX Text_1
This drawing is to be read in conjunction with all relevant documents and specifications. Dimensions are not to be scaled. Source: Carroll and Partner's drawing number BS336-003 OP1

AutoCAD SHX Text_2
KEY

AutoCAD SHX Text_3
Car - forward gear

AutoCAD SHX Text_4
Car - reverse gear

AutoCAD SHX Text_5
N

AutoCAD SHX Text_6
Reproduced from Ordnance Survey digital data with the permission of the Controller of Her Majesty's Stationery Office, Crown copyright (AL814229).

AutoCAD SHX Text_7
1. 2.



Drawing No.

Rev

Date :

Scale :

Status :

Project Engineer :

Project Director   :

Title :

Project :

Client :

Rev. Description

Chkd

postbox@glanvillegroup.com  www.glanvillegroup.com

Glanville

62 Foxhall Road, Didcot

Oxon, OX11 7AD

Date

Tel: (01235) 515550  Fax: (01235) 817799

Cornerstone House

8161308/6203

John Mostyn

14 Ilges Lane

Cholsey, OX10 9NX

Swept Path Analysis

Car

B. East

T. Foxall

1:250 @ A3

February 2017

ENTRY

EXIT

ENTRY

EXIT

ENTRY

EXIT

P
age 72

AutoCAD SHX Text_8
NOTES

AutoCAD SHX Text_9
This drawing is to be read in conjunction with all relevant documents and specifications. Dimensions are not to be scaled. Source: Carroll and Partner's drawing number BS336-003 OP1

AutoCAD SHX Text_10
KEY

AutoCAD SHX Text_11
Car - forward gear

AutoCAD SHX Text_12
Car - reverse gear

AutoCAD SHX Text_13
N

AutoCAD SHX Text_14
Reproduced from Ordnance Survey digital data with the permission of the Controller of Her Majesty's Stationery Office, Crown copyright (AL814229).

AutoCAD SHX Text_15
1. 2.



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 13 March 2017

APPLICATION NO. P17/S0043/FUL
APPLICATION TYPE FULL APPLICATION
REGISTERED 19.1.2017
PARISH CHOLSEY
WARD MEMBER(S) Jane Murphy

Pat Dawe
APPLICANT  Stephanie Ratcliffe
SITE 6 Kentwood Close, Cholsey, OX10 9NQ
PROPOSAL Erection of a three-bedroom detached dwelling.
AMENDMENTS As supported by additional block plan received on 

27 February 2017.
GRID REFERENCE 458619/186138
OFFICER Gabriella Brown

1.0 INTRODUCTION
1.1 The application has been referred to the Planning Committee because the officer 

recommendation conflicts with that of the Parish Council.

1.2 The application site is shown on the OS extract attached at Appendix 1 and it 
measures some 0.045 hectares. No. 6 is a two storey semi-detached dwelling and it is 
located within the built-up limits of Cholsey at the head of Kentwood Close. The 
exterior of the property is finished in facing brickwork and the pitched, hipped roof is 
clad in concrete tiles. There is a driveway at the front of the property and a further 
parking area within the garden which is accessed via a gate. 

2.0 PROPOSAL
2.1 It is proposed to erect a two storey, three bedroom house within the plot with its own 

separate parking area and private garden. The existing, two bedroom dwelling would 
retain a private amenity area and a car parking space.

2.2 The plans of the proposed development are attached at Appendix 2. Full details of the 
application and the consultation responses can be viewed on the Council’s website at 
www.southoxon.gov.uk

3.0 SUMMARY OF CONSULTATIONS & REPRESENTATIONS
3.1 Cholsey Parish Council – Object. The Council consider this proposal to be 

overdevelopment. The proposal will also reduce the parking for the existing 3 bedroom 
house to one space on a road where on street parking is already a problem.

County Archaeological Services - The proposals outlined would not appear to have 
an invasive impact upon any known archaeological sites or features. As such there are 
no archaeological constraints to this scheme.

Highways Liaison Officer (Oxfordshire County Council) - No objection subject to 
recommended conditions.

Neighbour Representation (1) - The proposed plan would make traffic in the close 
worse than it currently is and there would be no room for the cars at the proposed 
property to turn so they will have to reverse on to the main road. Also the new building 
would take all the sunlight from our front. It would also be an invasion of privacy.

Page 73

Agenda Item 10

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P17/S0043/FUL
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 13 March 2017

4.0 RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY
4.1 P00/W0066 - Approved (08/05/2000)

Two-storey extension to existing house side and single storey extension to rear. (As 
amended by revised drawings received on 21 March 2000).

5.0 POLICY & GUIDANCE
5.1 South Oxfordshire Core Strategy policies;

CS1  -  Presumption in favour of sustainable development
CSH1  -  Amount and distribution of housing
CSR1  -  Housing in villages
CSS1  -  The Overall Strategy

5.2 South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2011 policies;

D1  -  Principles of good design
D2  -  Safe and secure parking for vehicles and cycles
D3  -  Outdoor amenity area
D4  -  Reasonable level of privacy for occupiers
G2  -  Protect district from adverse development
H4  -  Housing sites in towns and larger villages outside Green Belt
T1  -  Safe, convenient and adequate highway network for all users
T2  -  Unloading, turning and parking for all highway users

5.3 National Planning Policy Framework

National Planning Policy Framework Planning Practice Guidance

South Oxfordshire Design Guide 2016

Cholsey Neighbourhood Plan – The Plan Area was designated on 4 August 2016 and 
the Parish are currently in the early stages of preparing their plan. It therefore holds 
limited weight at this time.

6.0 PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS
6.1 The main considerations in the determination of the application are:

 The principle of the proposed development and the council’s current housing 
land supply position 

 Whether it would be detrimental to an important open space of public, 
environmental or ecological value

 Whether the design, height, scale and materials of the proposed development 
are acceptable

 Whether the character of the area would be adversely affected 
 Whether there are any overriding amenity, environmental or highway objections
 Whether the proposal constitutes backland development
 Parking and amenity provision
 Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL)

6.2 The principle of the proposed development and the council’s current housing 
land supply position. Section 38 (6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 
2004 requires applications for planning permission be determined in accordance with 
the Development Plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise. Section 70 (2) 

Page 74

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P00/W0066


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 13 March 2017

of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 provides that the local planning authority 
shall have regard to the provisions of the Development Plan, so far as material to the 
application, and to any other material considerations.  In the case of this application, 
the most relevant parts of the Development Plan are the Core Strategy which was 
adopted in December 2012 and the saved policies of the South Oxfordshire Local Plan 
2011.

6.3 The National Planning Policy Framework advises that there is a presumption in favour 
of sustainable development. For decision-taking this means approving development 
proposals that accord with the development plan without delay; and where the 
development plan is absent, silent or relevant policies are out-of-date, granting 
permission unless: – any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and 
demonstrably outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the policies in this 
Framework taken as a whole; or – specific policies in this Framework indicate 
development should be restricted.”

6.4 This is echoed within policy CS1 of the South Oxfordshire Core Strategy. Policy CSS1 
of the approved Core Strategy sets out the overall development strategy for the District 
and advises that proposals should be consistent with the overall strategy of focusing 
major new development in Didcot; supporting the roles of Henley, Thame and 
Wallingford by regenerating town centres and providing new housing, services & 
infrastructure; supporting the 12 larger villages of the District as local service centres; 
supporting the other villages by allowing for limited amounts of housing; and outside of 
the above areas, any changes will need to relate to very specific needs.

6.5 The Council do not currently have a 5 year housing land supply and therefore, the 
presumption in favour of sustainable development, set out in Paragraph 14 of the 
NPPF, applies. This means  that our core strategy housing policies, including SOCS 
Policy CSR1 relating to  housing in villages, are out of date and are given less weight in 
our decision making. Sustainable development should now be permitted unless there is 
planning harm that outweighs the benefit of providing new housing.

6.6 We will address our current housing supply position by working with neighbourhood 
planning groups, town and parish councils and rapidly progress the review of our Local 
Plan 2031. We will also strongly resist applications which do not represent sustainable 
development.

6.7 Sustainability of the site. The 'network of settlements' under policy CSS1 remains a 
good basis for determining where within the district 'sustainable locations' for 
development are. Cholsey is categorised at Appendix 4 of the SOCS as a larger village. 
Policy CSR1 of the SOCS permits infill development within the built up limits of the 
larger villages and infill is defined in the supporting text to the policy as “the filling of a 
small gap in an otherwise built-up frontage or on other sites within settlements where 
the site is closely surrounded by buildings”. Allocations of sites on the edge of the 
village are also envisaged to accommodate planned growth.

6.8 6 Kentwood Close is located within the built-up limits of the settlement and it is 
surrounded on all four sides by other dwellings. The site is situated at a distance of a 
few hundred metres from the village centre. Cholsey benefits from a number of facilities 
including a primary school, a church, two public houses, several local shops including a 
pharmacy and Tesco Metro, and a pavilion containing a community run café and library. 
The village also benefits from a railway station offering connections to London, Didcot, 
Reading and Oxford. The village is located approximately 3 miles from Wallingford, the 
local market town and a new footpath along Reading Road allows for pedestrian 
access between the two settlements. Facilities are therefore within short walking and 

Page 75



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 13 March 2017

cycling distance and the site adjoins existing residential development with good 
connections to local services and facilities. 

6.9 Your officers therefore consider that the site does constitute an infill plot in a 
sustainable location and that the principle of the proposed residential development is 
acceptable. 

6.10 The development must also comply with the criteria of saved Policy H4 of the
SOLP which are explored below:

7.0 (i) Whether it would be detrimental to an important open space of public, 
environmental or ecological value. The plot currently comprises part of the private 
garden belonging to No. 6 Kentwood and it contains a garage and a further outbuilding 
at the rear of the site. The plot is contained by a high close boarded fence and it is 
surrounded on all sides by residential development. No locally important views are 
gained across the site and there is no record of any protected species on the site itself 
or in the surrounding area. Your officers do not therefore consider that the erection of a 
new dwelling on the plot would result in the loss of an important open space of public, 
environmental or ecological value.

7.1 (ii) Whether the design, height, scale and materials of the proposed development 
are acceptable. 

7.2 Design & materials. The surrounding area is largely made up of 1950’s housing. They 
are generally semi-detached and terraced properties which front the highway and have 
generous rear gardens. Most of the properties are finished in facing brickwork whilst 
pitched and hipped roofs are clad in concrete tiles. 

7.3 The design of the proposed dwelling picks up on features from the surrounding 
dwellings including the hipped roof, detail free elevations and simple casement 
windows. It is to be finished in facing brickwork and concrete tiles which is wholly in 
keeping with the local vernacular.  There are few detached dwellings in the immediate 
area, one has recently been built at the site next door. The proposed dwelling would not 
be readily seen in public views due to its location at the head of the close and position 
behind the host property. The site does not lie within a specially designated area and 
your officers do not consider that the development would detract from the character of 
the locality. The erection of a detached property would also provide variety to the type 
of housing within this part of the village. 

7.4 Height and Scale. The site sits in a slightly elevated position above the road but the 
plot itself is generally flat and it is surrounded on all sides by residential development. 
The surrounding properties are largely two storey in height and the properties on 
Kentwood Close measure some 4.9 metres high to the eaves and between 7.0 and 7.8 
metres high to the ridge. The eaves height of the proposed dwelling is 4.7 metres and 
the ridge height is 7.284 metres. Officers therefore consider that the height of the 
proposed dwelling would not be inappropriate.

7.5 The plot at 6 Kentwood Close is one of the widest on the road and both the host 
property and the new dwelling would be afforded amenity areas that well exceed the 
council’s standards. The proposal is for just one additional dwelling on the plot and 
having regard to the location of the site within the built-up limits of one of the larger 
villages in the district, officers do not consider that the scale of the proposal would be 
detrimental to the established character of the area in terms of development density. 

8.0 Whether the character of the area would be adversely affected. The property would 
be set back from the head of Kentwood Close. It would be glimpsed in views from 

Page 76



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 13 March 2017

Papist Way and Station Road, however, it would be read in conjunction with the 
surrounding development and as already discussed, the design and scale of the 
proposed development is considered to be acceptable and appropriate given the 
established character of the area.  

9.0 Whether there are any overriding amenity, environmental or highway objections.
9.1 Amenity considerations

Policies D4 and H4 of the SOLP seek to resist development that would be harmful to 
the amenities of occupants of nearby properties or that would not provide a sufficient 
level of amenity for occupiers of the new dwelling.

9.2 The proposed dwelling would be located at a distance of 8.7 metres from the rear 
boundary of the site which also forms the rear boundary of No’s 7a and 9 Papist Way. 
Those dwellings have gardens measuring some 19 m deep such that the overall back-
to-back distance between habitable rooms in the proposed dwelling and the adjacent 
properties on Papist Way would be over 27 metres. This exceeds the council’s required 
minimum standard of 25 metres as set out at Section 7 of the South Oxfordshire Design 
Guide 2016 (p.42). Having regard to this considerable distance as well as to the fact 
that this relationship is not dissimilar to the one that already exists between the host 
property and the two neighbouring dwellings, your officers do not consider that the 
development would have an overbearing or oppressive impact on the amenity of the 
occupants of the neighbouring property or detract from their privacy.

9.3 The proposed dwelling would be located wholly to the front of the new detached 
property to the west, 7a Kentwood Close. The distance between the two properties 
would be some 5.7 metres and the rear facing upper floor master bedroom window 
would permit only obscure views of the blank side elevation of the neighbouring 
property due to the position of the dwellings relative to one another. No upper floor 
openings are proposed within the west facing side elevation of the new dwelling and 
any windows added at a later date would need to comply with permitted development 
conditions which seek to protect neighbouring amenity.

9.4 Whilst the dwelling is likely to have some impact on the amount of light reaching the 
front of No.7a and its driveway this would only be during morning hours when the sun is 
in the east and would not affect its south facing garden. In addition, the approved plans 
for No.7a show that the closest window to the application site serves the sitting room 
which forms part of an open plan kitchen/dining and living area that is served by a 
number of openings within the rear (south facing) elevation of the dwelling. Your 
officers consider therefore that the proposed development would not have a materially 
adverse impact on the amenity of the occupants of No.7A Kentwood Close by reason of 
reducing light to that property.

9.5 In terms of its relationship with the host property, the proposed dwelling would sit to the 
side and wholly to the rear of 6 Kentwood Close. It would be located at a minimum 
distance of 1.5 metres from the shared boundary whilst the rear two storey element 
would be set away from the shared boundary by just over 5 metres. There is only a 
small window and a solid timber back door (with a small glazed light) in the rear of No.6 
with a centrally located bedroom window above and the submitted block plan shows 
that the proposed dwelling would not cross a 45 degree line drawn from the centre 
point of the host property’s closest (and only) ground and first floor openings. Having 
regard to this and to the south facing orientation of the rear elevation of No.6, the 
proposed development is unlikely to have a significant impact on the neighbours light. 
The property also has a long garden that extends beyond the proposed dwelling so the 
occupants of the host property would still benefit from some afternoon/evening sun in 
the southernmost part of their garden. Furthermore, the property is currently owned by 

Page 77



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 13 March 2017

the applicant but if it were to be put up for sale any prospective purchaser would be 
fully aware of the relationship with the new dwelling. 

9.6 Again, no upper floor openings are proposed within the side facing elevation of the new 
dwelling and any windows added at a later date would need to comply with permitted 
development conditions which seek to protect neighbouring amenity.

9.7 The proposed dwelling would be located at a minimum distance of 10 metres from the 
side elevation of 7 Kentwood Close which features just one ground floor window such 
that the proposed development would have no material impact on the residential 
amenity of the occupants of No.7

9.8 No representation has been received from the occupant of No.5 Kentwood Close and 
you officers consider that the distance between that dwelling and the proposed house is 
such that the development would not adversely affect the amenity of the neighbouring 
residents.

9.9 No other properties would be directly affected by the proposed development.

9.10 Environmental considerations
As the proposal involves the loss of a small proportion of a suburban garden and does 
not result in the demolition of any structures that would be suitable for roosting bats 
there are no objections on environmental grounds.

9.11 Highway considerations
The highway liaison officer has considered the merits of the proposed development and 
having regard to the low level of intensification that would arise as a result of the 
erection of only one additional dwelling, he is satisfied that the proposed development 
would not have a significant adverse impact on the highway network or on pedestrian 
safety.

11.0 Whether the proposal constitutes backland development. The proposed dwelling      
would have a road frontage and the proposal does not constitute backland 
development

12.0 Parking and amenity provision
12.1 Parking

As a result of the proposed development there would be the existing two bedroom 
dwelling on the site as well as the new three bedroom property. The Council’s 
maximum parking requirement for these dwellings is four spaces. The submitted plans 
show that No.6 would be left with just one parking space on the frontage whilst the new 
dwelling would have two off-road parking spaces.

12.2 The application is accompanied by a Transport Note which advises that parking beat 
surveys have been undertaken on the adjacent local network on three separate days 
last autumn to cover early morning and afternoon periods when most people would be 
home as per the advice of the OCC Highway Officer. The results of the surveys show 
that even when the parking stress is greatest, i.e. with 78% of potential legal spaces 
occupied, Kentwood Close has capacity to accommodate a further two vehicles. Having 
regard to the fact that only one additional parking space is required for the host 
property in order to allow the council’s maximum parking standard to be met and to the 
sustainable location of the site close to the village centre and public transport links, the 
OCC highway officer has concluded that the proposed development will not have a 
severe transport impact (as per para. 32 of the NPPF) and is acceptable in transport 
terms. As such, the technical expert has no objection to the proposal on highway safety 

Page 78



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 13 March 2017

grounds.

12.3 Amenity Provision
The garden area for the existing dwelling would measure 171 sq. metres which 
exceeds the Council’s amenity requirement for a two bedroom property of 50 sq. 
metres and the proposed dwelling would have a garden area measuring 276 sq. metres 
which, again, is considerably larger that the  Council’s requirement of 100 sq. metres. 

13.0 Community Infrastructure Levy. The Council adopted the Community Infrastructure 
Levy in April 2016. In Cholsey the CIL rate for residential development is £156 per sq. 
m. Monies will be levied on gross internal floorspace (in accordance with the CIL 
Regulations 2010 as amended). The applicant has provided the required CIL forms 
which demonstrate that the floor area of the new property is some 87.8 sq. m. The 
applicant has also provided the CIL liability form and the self-build form seeking an 
exemption on the levy as it is their intention to occupy the property.

14.0 CONCLUSION
14.1 The principle of infill development is acceptable within the built-up limits of Cholsey and 

the village is a sustainable location with access to shops, services and facilities and 
public transport links to local towns and Oxford City. The design and scale of the 
proposal is in keeping with the established character of the area and the detached 
dwelling would add to the choice of housing stock in the locality. The Highway Officer is 
satisfied that the proposal would not have an adverse impact on highway safety and the 
relationship of the dwelling with neighbouring properties is acceptable. The relevant 
parking and amenity standards can be met and the proposal is otherwise in accordance 
with Development Plan Policies. Your officers’ therefore recommend that planning 
permission is granted.

15.0 RECOMMENDATION
15.1 To grant planning permission subect to the following conditions:

1. Commencement three years - full planning permission.
2. Approved plans.
3. Schedule of materials to be submitted for approval.
4. Existing vehicular access to be improved.
5. Parking and manoeuvring areas retained unobstructed except for the 

parking of vehicles associated with the development at all times.
6. The parking/manoeuvring area shall be kept free of obstructions at all 

times and used only for the specified purpose

Author: Gabriella Brown
Contact No: 01235 422600
Email: planning@southoxon.gov.uk

Page 79



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 81

Agenda Item 10

shacra_10
Typewriter
The site

shacra_11
Arrow

shacra_12
Typewriter
Appendix 1



Appendix 2

P
age 82



P
age 83



27 February 2017

06

DP

1:200@A1L

TBA

DATE:

DWG No.

DRAWN BY:

02

6 Kentwood Close, Cholsey OX10 9NQ

PROPOSED BLOCK PLAN

SCALE:

REV.

REF.

The Complete Architectural

& Management Solution

17 Bainton Road, Bucknell OX27 7LT

homedesignstudios.co.uk

sales@homedesignstudios.co.uk

07855 322 018  |  01869 249 166

Home Design Studios

...Innovation in Space

E

l
 

S

u

b

 

S

t

a

4

4

1

7

4

6

1

6

8

1

5

5

8

1

3

a

1

1

3

K

E

N

T

W

O

O

D

 

C

L

O

S

E

g

r

o

u

n

d

 
f
l
o

o

r

 
w

i
n

d

o

w

f
i
r

s

t

 
f
l
o

o

r

 
w

i
n

d

o

w

a

c

c

e

s
s

c

h

a

m

b

e

r

f
l
o

o

r
 
a

r
e

a

8

8

m

²

0.9

0.9

p

l
o

t

2

7

6

m

²

p

l
o

t

1

7

1

m

²

6.6

a

c

c

e

s
s

c

h

a

m

b

e

r

5.
5

5.2

3.
5

3.
5

5.
5

7

1.7

2.5

2.7

2.7

5

5
5

4

0.8

P
age 84



Page 85



Page 86



P
age 87



P
age 88



17 January 2016

07

DP

1:50@A3L

TBA

DATE:

DWG No.

DRAWN BY:

01

6 Kentwood Close, Cholsey OX10 9NQ

PROPOSED FLOOR PLANS

NEW DWELLING

SCALE:

REV.

REF.

The Complete Architectural

& Management Solution

17 Bainton Road, Bucknell OX27 7LT

homedesignstudios.co.uk

sales@homedesignstudios.co.uk

07855 322 018  |  01869 249 166

Home Design Studios

...Innovation in Space

lounge

15.7m²

kitchen

8.4m²

entrance

3.2m²

cloaks

2.4m²

master bedroom

11.1m²

bathroom

4m²

bedroom 2

11.2m²

en-suite

2.9m²

bedroom 3

7.2m²

dining/family

13.4m²

refrig.
w/d

d/w

freeze

landing

3.5m²

1 2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

3868

full height units

GROUND FLOOR

GIA 42.8m²

FIRST FLOOR

GIA 40.8m²

47
90

54
83

1026 1292 2807923

7000

47
91

28
07

35
00

1698

4505

5198

33
70

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

cyl.

0.8m²

obscure

glazed

wardrobe

1000 x 800

wdbe.

47
90

2330 910 2807

22
91

23
70

1000

27
97

33
70

3375 980

2017

30
30

solid fuel

burner

665
CO

SENSOR

450

11
15

P
age 89



Page 90



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee  – 13 March 2017

APPLICATION NO. P17/S0279/HH
APPLICATION TYPE HOUSEHOLDER
REGISTERED 25.1.2017
PARISH HENLEY-ON-THAMES
WARD MEMBERS Joan Bland

Stefan Gawrysiak
Lorraine Hillier

APPLICANT Mr & Mrs Nimmo-Smith
SITE 78 St Andrews Road, Henley-on-Thames, RG9 1JE
PROPOSAL Single and two storey extensions and general 

alterations.
AMENDMENTS None
OFFICER Simon Kitson

1.0 INTRODUCTION
1.1 This application is referred to committee as the applicant is a district councillor.

1.2 The application property (which is shown on the OS extract attached as Appendix A) 
comprises a detached, historic dwelling set in a generous 670 sq.m plot within the 
built-up confines of Henley. The property has been extended previously and there is 
an existing detached outbuilding to the rear.    

1.3 The site does not fall within a designated area. 

2.0 PROPOSAL
2.1 As detailed in the application submission, householder planning permission is primarily 

sought for the erection of a part single, part two storey extension to the rear elevation, 
with a flat-roofed link extension to the existing rear outbuilding and a timber pergola. At 
the front of the property, the proposal includes a two storey bay window extension and 
an open-sided entrance porch.

2.2 The plans accompanying the application are attached as Appendix B.

3.0 SUMMARY OF CONSULTATIONS & REPRESENTATIONS
3.1 Henley-on-Thames Town Council - No strong views

No neighbour objections to the proposal have been received.

4.0 RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY
4.1 P00/S0236/LD - Approved (08/06/2000)

Conversion of detached single garage into hobbies/utility room.

P94/S0036 - Approved (17/06/1994)
Dormer extension on rear elevation.

P82/S0111 - Approved (13/05/1982)
(A) kitchen and bedroom extension. (b) replacement garage. (c) reorganise bathrooms

5.0 POLICY & GUIDANCE
5.1 The Joint Henley and Harpsden Neighbourhood Plan (JHHNP)

Page 91

Agenda Item 11

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P17/S0279/HH
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P00/S0236/LD
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P94/S0036
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P82/S0111


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee  – 13 March 2017

5.2 South Oxfordshire Core Strategy (SOCS) policies;

CSQ3  -  Design

5.3 South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2011 (SOLP) policies;

D1  -  Principles of good design
D4  -  Reasonable level of privacy for occupiers
G2  -  Protect district from adverse development
H13  -  Extension to dwelling

South Oxfordshire Design Guide 2016 (SODG)

5.4 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)

National Planning Policy Framework Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG)

6.0 PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS
6.1 The main issues for consideration in this application are as follows:-

1. Whether the proposal would have an acceptable impact upon the character of 
the dwelling, its site or the wider area

2. Whether there would be a harmful impact upon neighbouring amenity

Scale and Design 

6.2 The application property is located within a line of housing which is highly varied in 
terms of plot width, height, form, age, detailing and materials. Many of the larger 
dwellings have been extended well beyond their original forms and the property does 
not fall within an area which is afforded additional protection on the basis of special 
architectural or historic interest. 
  

6.3 The proposed changes to the front elevation are not considered to be contentious. This 
is on the basis that they would not adversely impact upon the overall character of the 
dwelling and they would not have a significant visual impact upon the wider street 
scene. Furthermore, the parking provision at the front of the dwelling would be largely 
unaffected by this scheme due to the limited projection beyond the principle elevation.  

6.4 Whilst the extensions to the rear would result in a significant increase in the volume of 
the dwelling, this would mostly be at ground floor level. There would be no visibility from 
public vantage points and the property would continue to benefit from a generous 
amount of garden land, well in excess of the SODG minimum recommendations. The 
proposed design of the rear extensions would broadly accord with the overall form and 
character of the existing dwelling and the local vernacular. 

Neighbouring amenity

6.5 It is noted that no neighbour objections to the proposal have been received and that 
Henley Town Council has no strong views. It is also worthy of note that the dwelling 
benefits from full permitted development (PD) rights. Subject to conditions, PD rights 
allow the erection of smaller single and two-storey extensions to the rear, and 
extensions to the roof. 

6.6 Due to the scale of the proposal, the position of the extensions and the orientation of 

Page 92



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee  – 13 March 2017

the properties, officers are satisfied that there would not be an adverse impact upon the 
dwellings to the north-east which are currently under construction (P16/S0827/FUL). 

6.7 Although there may be some impact upon the dwelling at no.80 St Andrews Road, the 
ground floor extension would not project beyond the main building line at that property 
and the height and depth would be close to the PD limits for this form of development.  
The neighbour’s most recent floor plans suggest that their north-east facing openings 
affected by the proposal are either secondary openings, or windows serving a utility 
room and bathroom. Officers are satisfied that there would not be a material loss of 
daylight to any neighbouring rooms serving primary living accommodation or a material 
loss of outlook from the neighbour’s garden. As there are no side facing window 
openings proposed, there would not be a material loss of privacy.

7.0 CONCLUSION
7.1 The proposal complies with the relevant Development Plan policies and it is considered 

that the proposed development would be acceptable in terms of its relationship to the 
character of the existing building, its site and the surrounding area.  It is also 
acceptable in terms of its impact on neighbouring amenity.

8.0 RECOMMENDATION
8.1 That planning permission is granted subject to the following conditions:

1. The development to which this permission relates must be begun not later 
than the expiration of three years beginning with the date of this 
permission.

2. The development hereby approved shall be carried out in accordance with 
the details shown on the approved plans

3. The exterior of the development hereby permitted shall only be 
constructed in the materials specified on the plans hereby approved or in 
materials which shall previously have been approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority.

Author: Simon Kitson
Contact No: 01235 422600
Email: planning@southoxon.gov.uk 

Page 93

mailto:planning@southoxon.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix A

Page 95

Agenda Item 11



Matthew T. Young B.A. (Hons). Dip Arch. R.I.B.A

Chartered Architect

25, Hunts Mill, Goldsmiths Lane,

Wallingford,  OX10 0DN

Telephone: 01491 825244
www.mtyarchitects.co.uk

Dimensions should not be scaled. Refer questions to Architect.
© Copyright is retained by Matthew T. Young, Chartered Architect, unless agreed otherwise in writing

Appendix B

P
age 96

AutoCAD SHX Text_16
LOCATION PLAN

AutoCAD SHX Text_17
0 METRES (1:1250)

AutoCAD SHX Text_18
13

AutoCAD SHX Text_19
25

AutoCAD SHX Text_20
38

AutoCAD SHX Text_21
50

AutoCAD SHX Text_22
63

AutoCAD SHX Text_23
N

AutoCAD SHX Text_24
ST. ANDREWS ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_25
BERKSHIRE ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_26
MANOR ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_27
GREEN LANE

AutoCAD SHX Text_28
59

AutoCAD SHX Text_29
57

AutoCAD SHX Text_30
55

AutoCAD SHX Text_31
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_32
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_33
9

AutoCAD SHX Text_34
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_35
53

AutoCAD SHX Text_36
51

AutoCAD SHX Text_37
68

AutoCAD SHX Text_38
70

AutoCAD SHX Text_39
72

AutoCAD SHX Text_40
72a

AutoCAD SHX Text_41
74

AutoCAD SHX Text_42
76

AutoCAD SHX Text_43
78

AutoCAD SHX Text_44
80

AutoCAD SHX Text_45
82

AutoCAD SHX Text_46
84

AutoCAD SHX Text_47
86

AutoCAD SHX Text_48
97

AutoCAD SHX Text_49
95a

AutoCAD SHX Text_50
95

AutoCAD SHX Text_51
78

AutoCAD SHX Text_52
78a

AutoCAD SHX Text_53
80

AutoCAD SHX Text_54
NEW TIMBER PERGOLA

AutoCAD SHX Text_55
SITE PLAN

AutoCAD SHX Text_56
N

AutoCAD SHX Text_57
0 METRES (1:100)

AutoCAD SHX Text_58
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_59
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_60
3

AutoCAD SHX Text_61
4

AutoCAD SHX Text_62
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_63
80

AutoCAD SHX Text_64
78

AutoCAD SHX Text_65
76

AutoCAD SHX Text_66
OUTLINE OF CONSENT UNDER REF P16/S0827/FUL

AutoCAD SHX Text_67
OUTLINE OF CONSENT UNDER REF P07/E0204

AutoCAD SHX Text_68
MR & MRS NIMMO SMITH 78 ST. ANDREWS ROAD HENLEY ON THAMES OXON RG9 1JE

AutoCAD SHX Text_69
1:1250 @ A1 1:100 @ A1 SEP 2016

AutoCAD SHX Text_70
NSAH-PL-099A

AutoCAD SHX Text_71
LOCATION/SITE PLAN



Matthew T. Young B.A. (Hons). Dip Arch. R.I.B.A

Chartered Architect

25, Hunts Mill, Goldsmiths Lane,

Wallingford,  OX10 0DN

Telephone: 01491 825244
www.mtyarchitects.co.uk

Dimensions should not be scaled. Refer questions to Architect.
© Copyright is retained by Matthew T. Young, Chartered Architect, unless agreed otherwise in writing

P
age 97

AutoCAD SHX Text_72
UNABLE TO ACCESS / ON BOUNDARY

AutoCAD SHX Text_73
FRONT ELEVATION

AutoCAD SHX Text_74
0 METRES (1:100)

AutoCAD SHX Text_75
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_76
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_77
3

AutoCAD SHX Text_78
4

AutoCAD SHX Text_79
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_80
SIDE ELEVATION

AutoCAD SHX Text_81
0 METRES (1:100)

AutoCAD SHX Text_82
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_83
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_84
3

AutoCAD SHX Text_85
4

AutoCAD SHX Text_86
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_87
LINE OF BOUNDARY FENCE (DASHED)

AutoCAD SHX Text_88
REAR ELEVATION

AutoCAD SHX Text_89
0 METRES (1:100)

AutoCAD SHX Text_90
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_91
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_92
3

AutoCAD SHX Text_93
4

AutoCAD SHX Text_94
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_95
LINE OF ANNEXE (DASHED FOR CLARITY)

AutoCAD SHX Text_96
SIDE ELEVATION

AutoCAD SHX Text_97
0 METRES (1:100)

AutoCAD SHX Text_98
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_99
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_100
3

AutoCAD SHX Text_101
4

AutoCAD SHX Text_102
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_103
UNABLE TO ACCESS / ON BOUNDARY

AutoCAD SHX Text_104
MR & MRS NIMMO SMITH 78 ST. ANDREWS ROAD HENLEY ON THAMES OXON RG9 1JE

AutoCAD SHX Text_105
1:100 @ A3 SEP 2016

AutoCAD SHX Text_106
NSAH-PL-101

AutoCAD SHX Text_107
ELEVATIONS EXISTING



Matthew T. Young B.A. (Hons). Dip Arch. R.I.B.A

Chartered Architect

25, Hunts Mill, Goldsmiths Lane,

Wallingford,  OX10 0DN

Telephone: 01491 825244
www.mtyarchitects.co.uk

Dimensions should not be scaled. Refer questions to Architect.
© Copyright is retained by Matthew T. Young, Chartered Architect, unless agreed otherwise in writing

P
age 98

AutoCAD SHX Text_108
FRONT ELEVATION

AutoCAD SHX Text_109
0 METRES (1:100)

AutoCAD SHX Text_110
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_111
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_112
3

AutoCAD SHX Text_113
4

AutoCAD SHX Text_114
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_115
SIDE ELEVATION

AutoCAD SHX Text_116
0 METRES (1:100)

AutoCAD SHX Text_117
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_118
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_119
3

AutoCAD SHX Text_120
4

AutoCAD SHX Text_121
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_122
LINE OF BOUNDARY FENCE (DASHED)

AutoCAD SHX Text_123
REAR ELEVATION

AutoCAD SHX Text_124
0 METRES (1:100)

AutoCAD SHX Text_125
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_126
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_127
3

AutoCAD SHX Text_128
4

AutoCAD SHX Text_129
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_130
LINE OF ANNEXE (DASHED FOR CLARITY)

AutoCAD SHX Text_131
SIDE ELEVATION

AutoCAD SHX Text_132
0 METRES (1:100)

AutoCAD SHX Text_133
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_134
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_135
3

AutoCAD SHX Text_136
4

AutoCAD SHX Text_137
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_138
UNABLE TO ACCESS / ON BOUNDARY

AutoCAD SHX Text_139
NEW PROJECTING BAY WINDOW

AutoCAD SHX Text_140
NEW EXTENDED PORCH AND ROOF OVER

AutoCAD SHX Text_141
NEW EXTENDED PORCH AND ROOF OVER

AutoCAD SHX Text_142
NEW WINDOW

AutoCAD SHX Text_143
ACCESS WAY

AutoCAD SHX Text_144
EXTG PITCHED ROOF EXTENDED OVER NEW EXTENSIONS

AutoCAD SHX Text_145
S/S FLUE

AutoCAD SHX Text_146
EXTG PITCHED ROOF EXTENDED OVER NEW EXTENSIONS

AutoCAD SHX Text_147
NEW HIPPED ROOF

AutoCAD SHX Text_148
S/S FLUE

AutoCAD SHX Text_149
S/S FLUE

AutoCAD SHX Text_150
NEW SLIDING FOLDING GLAZED DOORS

AutoCAD SHX Text_151
PATIO/TERRACE

AutoCAD SHX Text_152
NEW TIMBER PERGOLA

AutoCAD SHX Text_153
NEW SLIDING FOLDING GLAZED DOORS

AutoCAD SHX Text_154
STONE COPING TO ROOF EDGE

AutoCAD SHX Text_155
NEW SINGLE-STOREY FLAT-ROOFED EXTENSION

AutoCAD SHX Text_156
NEW PATIO / TERRACE SHOWN DASHED FOR CLARITY

AutoCAD SHX Text_157
NEW PROJECTING BAY WINDOW

AutoCAD SHX Text_158
NEW HIPPED ROOF

AutoCAD SHX Text_159
FARIFACED BRICK TO MATCH EXTG

AutoCAD SHX Text_160
NEW CANOPY ROOF

AutoCAD SHX Text_161
NEW CANOPY ROOF

AutoCAD SHX Text_162
MR & MRS NIMMO SMITH 78 ST. ANDREWS ROAD HENLEY ON THAMES OXON RG9 1JE

AutoCAD SHX Text_163
1:100 @ A3 SEP 2016

AutoCAD SHX Text_164
NSAH-PL-111

AutoCAD SHX Text_165
ELEVATIONS PROPOSED



Matthew T. Young B.A. (Hons). Dip Arch. R.I.B.A

Chartered Architect

25, Hunts Mill, Goldsmiths Lane,

Wallingford,  OX10 0DN

Telephone: 01491 825244
www.mtyarchitects.co.uk

Dimensions should not be scaled. Refer questions to Architect.
© Copyright is retained by Matthew T. Young, Chartered Architect, unless agreed otherwise in writing

P
age 99

AutoCAD SHX Text_166
BOILER

AutoCAD SHX Text_167
GAS

AutoCAD SHX Text_168
HWC

AutoCAD SHX Text_169
RAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_170
RAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_171
RAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_172
RAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_173
RAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_174
RAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_175
RAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_176
RAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_177
RAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_178
RAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_179
ST

AutoCAD SHX Text_180
UNABLE TO ACCESS / ON BOUNDARY

AutoCAD SHX Text_181
RWP

AutoCAD SHX Text_182
RWP

AutoCAD SHX Text_183
RWP

AutoCAD SHX Text_184
RWP

AutoCAD SHX Text_185
SVP

AutoCAD SHX Text_186
SVP

AutoCAD SHX Text_187
HATCH OVER

AutoCAD SHX Text_188
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_189
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_190
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_191
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_192
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_193
UNABLE TO ACCESS / ON BOUNDARY

AutoCAD SHX Text_194
1.8M HIGH C/B FENCE (SITE BOUNDARY)

AutoCAD SHX Text_195
1.8M HIGH C/B FENCE (SITE BOUNDARY)

AutoCAD SHX Text_196
SIDE ACCESS GATE

AutoCAD SHX Text_197
GRAVEL DRIVE

AutoCAD SHX Text_198
RAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_199
WC CH=2230

AutoCAD SHX Text_200
STORE CH=2230

AutoCAD SHX Text_201
HOBBY CH=2230

AutoCAD SHX Text_202
KITCHEN CH=2400

AutoCAD SHX Text_203
DINING CH=2400

AutoCAD SHX Text_204
HALL CH=2400

AutoCAD SHX Text_205
LIVING CH=2400

AutoCAD SHX Text_206
UTILITY CH=2325

AutoCAD SHX Text_207
CH=1850

AutoCAD SHX Text_208
RAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_209
RWP

AutoCAD SHX Text_210
RWP

AutoCAD SHX Text_211
RWP

AutoCAD SHX Text_212
SVP

AutoCAD SHX Text_213
SVP

AutoCAD SHX Text_214
RWP

AutoCAD SHX Text_215
FLAT ROOF

AutoCAD SHX Text_216
BEAM OVER

AutoCAD SHX Text_217
BEAM OVER

AutoCAD SHX Text_218
BEAM OVER

AutoCAD SHX Text_219
BED 01 CH=2400

AutoCAD SHX Text_220
BED 02 CH=2400

AutoCAD SHX Text_221
BED 02 CH=2400

AutoCAD SHX Text_222
CH=2270

AutoCAD SHX Text_223
BATH CH=2400

AutoCAD SHX Text_224
LANDING CH=2400

AutoCAD SHX Text_225
WC CH=2400

AutoCAD SHX Text_226
GROUND FLOOR PLAN

AutoCAD SHX Text_227
0 METRES (1:100)

AutoCAD SHX Text_228
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_229
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_230
3

AutoCAD SHX Text_231
4

AutoCAD SHX Text_232
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_233
N

AutoCAD SHX Text_234
FIRST FLOOR PLAN

AutoCAD SHX Text_235
0 METRES (1:100)

AutoCAD SHX Text_236
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_237
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_238
3

AutoCAD SHX Text_239
4

AutoCAD SHX Text_240
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_241
N

AutoCAD SHX Text_242
MR & MRS NIMMO SMITH 78 ST. ANDREWS ROAD HENLEY ON THAMES OXON RG9 1JE

AutoCAD SHX Text_243
1:100 @ A3 SEP 2016

AutoCAD SHX Text_244
NSAH-PL-100

AutoCAD SHX Text_245
PLANS EXISTING



Matthew T. Young B.A. (Hons). Dip Arch. R.I.B.A

Chartered Architect

25, Hunts Mill, Goldsmiths Lane,

Wallingford,  OX10 0DN

Telephone: 01491 825244
www.mtyarchitects.co.uk

Dimensions should not be scaled. Refer questions to Architect.
© Copyright is retained by Matthew T. Young, Chartered Architect, unless agreed otherwise in writing

P
age 100

AutoCAD SHX Text_246
NEW BOILER

AutoCAD SHX Text_247
GAS

AutoCAD SHX Text_248
ST

AutoCAD SHX Text_249
UNABLE TO ACCESS / ON BOUNDARY

AutoCAD SHX Text_250
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_251
UNABLE TO ACCESS / ON BOUNDARY

AutoCAD SHX Text_252
GROUND FLOOR PLAN

AutoCAD SHX Text_253
0 METRES (1:100)

AutoCAD SHX Text_254
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_255
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_256
3

AutoCAD SHX Text_257
4

AutoCAD SHX Text_258
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_259
N

AutoCAD SHX Text_260
FIRST FLOOR PLAN

AutoCAD SHX Text_261
0 METRES (1:100)

AutoCAD SHX Text_262
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_263
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_264
3

AutoCAD SHX Text_265
4

AutoCAD SHX Text_266
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_267
N

AutoCAD SHX Text_268
1.8M HIGH C/B FENCE (SITE BOUNDARY)

AutoCAD SHX Text_269
1.8M HIGH C/B FENCE (SITE BOUNDARY)

AutoCAD SHX Text_270
SIDE ACCESS GATE

AutoCAD SHX Text_271
GRAVEL DRIVE

AutoCAD SHX Text_272
SHOWER

AutoCAD SHX Text_273
STORE/ GUEST BEDROOM

AutoCAD SHX Text_274
STUDIO

AutoCAD SHX Text_275
STUDY

AutoCAD SHX Text_276
HALL

AutoCAD SHX Text_277
DRAWING

AutoCAD SHX Text_278
RWP

AutoCAD SHX Text_279
SVP

AutoCAD SHX Text_280
BED 03

AutoCAD SHX Text_281
BED 02

AutoCAD SHX Text_282
BED 01

AutoCAD SHX Text_283
BATH

AutoCAD SHX Text_284
LANDING

AutoCAD SHX Text_285
ENSUITE

AutoCAD SHX Text_286
MSTR BED

AutoCAD SHX Text_287
MSTR ENSUITE

AutoCAD SHX Text_288
KITCHEN

AutoCAD SHX Text_289
WC

AutoCAD SHX Text_290
UTILITY

AutoCAD SHX Text_291
FAMILY

AutoCAD SHX Text_292
DINING

AutoCAD SHX Text_293
COATS

AutoCAD SHX Text_294
STOVE

AutoCAD SHX Text_295
PATIO/TERRACE

AutoCAD SHX Text_296
NEW STAIR

AutoCAD SHX Text_297
NEW STAIR

AutoCAD SHX Text_298
WRDB

AutoCAD SHX Text_299
NEW PROJECTING BAY WINDOW

AutoCAD SHX Text_300
NEW PROJECTING BAY WINDOW

AutoCAD SHX Text_301
NEW ROOF LANTERN OVER

AutoCAD SHX Text_302
NEW ROOF LANTERN

AutoCAD SHX Text_303
NEW SLIDING POCKET DOORS

AutoCAD SHX Text_304
NEW INFILL WALL

AutoCAD SHX Text_305
EXTG CYL RELCOATED TO LOFT

AutoCAD SHX Text_306
EXTG DOORS REMOVED

AutoCAD SHX Text_307
NEW DOOR AND PARTITION

AutoCAD SHX Text_308
DORR SWING REVERSED

AutoCAD SHX Text_309
NEW BEAMS OVER

AutoCAD SHX Text_310
NEW SLIDING FOLDING GLAZED DOORS

AutoCAD SHX Text_311
FLAT ROOF LINK

AutoCAD SHX Text_312
NEW PARTITIONS

AutoCAD SHX Text_313
NEW DOOR AND PARTITION

AutoCAD SHX Text_314
DOOR REMOVED OPENING INFILLED

AutoCAD SHX Text_315
DOOR REMOVED

AutoCAD SHX Text_316
NEW TIMBER PERGOLA

AutoCAD SHX Text_317
NEW KITCHEN

AutoCAD SHX Text_318
NEW WINDOW

AutoCAD SHX Text_319
NEW EXTENDED PORCH AND ROOF OVER

AutoCAD SHX Text_320
NEW SLIDING FOLDING GLAZED DOORS

AutoCAD SHX Text_321
COVERED ACCESS WAY

AutoCAD SHX Text_322
MR & MRS NIMMO SMITH 78 ST. ANDREWS ROAD HENLEY ON THAMES OXON RG9 1JE

AutoCAD SHX Text_323
1:100 @ A3 SEP 2016

AutoCAD SHX Text_324
NSAH-PL-110

AutoCAD SHX Text_325
PLANS PROPOSED



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee  – 13 March 2017

APPLICATION NO. P16/S3682/FUL
APPLICATION TYPE FULL APPLICATION
REGISTERED 4.11.2016
PARISH THAME
WARD MEMBERS Jeannette Matelot

David Dodds
Nigel Champken-Woods

APPLICANT Mr G Virtue & Mr S Smith
SITE Land adjacent to 52 Broadwaters Avenue, Thame, 

OX9 2DU
PROPOSAL Construction of a new 1-bed attached dwelling 

house on land adjacent to 52 Broadwaters Avenue 
(with a reduction in the scale of the proposal 
following the submission of revised plans on 26th 
January 2017)

AMENDMENTS As above
OFFICER Simon Kitson

1.0 INTRODUCTION
1.1 This application is referred to committee as the officer’s recommendation of approval 

is at odds with the views of Thame Town Council. 

1.2 No. 52 Broadwaters Avenue (which is shown on the OS extract attached as Appendix 
A) is a semi-detached property set within a plot measuring approximately 404 sq.m in 
area within the built up confines of Thame. The majority of the development site 
comprises garden land currently associated with this property. 

1.3 The site is located approximately 250m from the town centre boundary and it does not 
fall within a designated area.

2.0 PROPOSAL
2.1 As detailed in the application submission, consent is sought for the construction of a 1-

bedroom dwelling to the side of the existing property, with two parking spaces and a 
separate garden area. 

2.2 As amended, the dwelling would measure 4.2m wide by 5.7m deep at first floor level. 
The first floor would be set back from the front building line by approximately 0.5m and 
below the main ridge by 0.3m. The ground floor would project to the rear by a further 
3.2m, via a lean-to extension.

2.3 A copy of the proposed plans is attached as Appendix B and other documentation 
associated with the application can be accessed via the council’s website, 
www.southoxon.gov.uk.

3.0 SUMMARY OF CONSULTATIONS & REPRESENTATIONS
3.1 Thame Town Council - Objection

1. Overdevelopment
2. Impact on neighbouring amenity
3. Impact on the character of the area
4. Loss of garage at No. 52 for its original purpose
5. Parking and access
6. Traffic generation

Page 101

Agenda Item 12

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P16/S3682/FUL


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee  – 13 March 2017

Waste Management Officer (District Council) - No strong views

Highways Liaison Officer (Oxfordshire County Council) - No objection, subject to 
conditions

Neighbour Approve (1)
 No objection to any aspect of proposal (58 Broadwaters Avenue)

Neighbour No Strong Views (1)
 No objection provided that a fence is erected following removal of the existing 

carport (43 Hampden Avenue)

Neighbour objection
 Loss of privacy to 46 Hampden Avenue
 Additional traffic generation and construction issues

4.0 RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY
4.1 None

5.0 POLICY & GUIDANCE
5.1 Thame Neighbourhood Plan;

H5 Integrate windfall sites
H6 Design new development to be of high quality
GA6 New development to provide parking on site for occupants and visitors
ESDQ16 Development must relate well to its site and its surroundings
ESDQ17 Development must make a positive contribution towards the distinctive 
character of the town as a whole
ESDQ18 New development must contribute to local character by creating a sense of 
place appropriate to its location
ESDQ19 The Design and Access Statement and accompanying drawings must provide 
sufficient detail for proposals to be properly understood
ESDQ26 Design new buildings to reflect the three-dimensional qualities of traditional 
buildings
ESDQ27 Design in the ‘forgotten’ elements from the start of the design process
ESDQ28 Provide good quality private outdoor space
ESDQ29 Design car parking so that it fits in with the character of the proposed 
development

5.2 South Oxfordshire Core Strategy policies;

CSQ3  -  Design
CSTHA1  -  The Strategy for Thame

5.3 South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2011 policies;

D1  -  Principles of good design
D2  -  Safe and secure parking for vehicles and cycles
D4  -  Reasonable level of privacy for occupiers
D10 - Waste management
G2  -  Protect district from adverse development
H4  -  Housing sites in towns and larger villages outside Green Belt
T1  -  Safe, convenient and adequate highway network for all users
T2  -  Unloading, turning and parking for all highway users

South Oxfordshire Design Guide 2016

Page 102



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee  – 13 March 2017

5.4 National Planning Policy Framework

National Planning Policy Framework Planning Practice Guidance

6.0 PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS
6.1 The main areas of consideration for this application are as follows: 

 the principle of development
 the impact of the design, height, scale and materials upon the character of the site, 

the street scene and the wider area;
 the impact upon neighbouring amenity, in terms of light, outlook and privacy 
 the impact upon the highway network, in terms of highway safety, access and 

parking provision.

Principle of Development

6.2 SOCS Policy CSTHA1 allows for housing on ‘suitable infill and redevelopment sites’. 
Policy H5 of the TNP states that permission will be granted for small residential 
developments on infill and redevelopment sites within the parish, subject to proposals 
being well designed and meeting relevant requirements set out in other policies in the 
local development plan. Officers accept that this is an infill scheme as it would develop 
a site within a built up residential frontage, which is closely surrounded by other 
buildings.  The proposal has been assessed primarily against the council’s detailed 
housing policies and adopted design guidance. 

Scale and design

6.3 In terms of the scale of this proposal, officers note that the outdoor amenity areas would 
accord with Section 7 of the SODG. In accordance with the adopted recommendations 
for new residential development, the existing 2 bed dwelling would retain a garden area 
in excess of 50 sq.m and the 1 bed dwelling would have a garden in excess of 35 sq.m. 
The level of plot coverage would be consistent with the surrounding pattern of 
development within this part of Thame as required by Policy D3 of the SOLP. 

6.4 Notwithstanding the above, officers fully accept that there would be an impact upon the 
character of the area and the street scene as the proposal would develop part of the 
garden area of a distinctive and relatively open corner plot. TNP Policy ESDQ16 is 
particularly relevant here as it requires development proposals to respond to the 
character of the site and its local surroundings, maintaining or enhancing its strengths 
and seeking to address its weaknesses. In assessing the level of impact, officers have 
had regard to the scale of the proposal, the relationship between the existing dwelling 
and the street scene and the general sustainability of the location.  

6.5 The built form along Broadwaters Avenue to the north of the site comprises a mixture of 
semi-detached and terrace properties, with some variation in the building line, external 
finishes and frontages. The application plot is disproportionately wide and the existing 
semi-detached dwelling benefits from a far greater amount of amenity space than any 
of its neighbours. Officers consider that there is scope for this dwelling to be extended 
to the side without overly harming the sense of balance within this part of the street. 
The additional parking and widening of the access are forms of development which 
rarely require planning permission in this location and the visual impact of the proposed 
dwelling would be softened by the subservient design. The dwelling would arguably 
resemble an extension to the existing property, with a set back from first floor building 
line and the lower ridge. 

Page 103



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee  – 13 March 2017

6.6 Although the impact upon Hampden Avenue also needs to be weighed in the balance, 
officers consider that the existing corner plot is poorly designed as it does not respond 
particularly well to the relationship between the two highways. Unlike other parts of 
housing estate, where the corner dwellings are orientated so that they front the 
junctions between both highways, the existing dwelling is divorced from the 
neighbouring properties to the south, with a large flank wall and dilapidated carport 
structure facing onto Hampden Avenue.

6.7 Whilst the new dwelling would project closer to Hampden Avenue, the existing property 
is already nearer to the highway than no’s 42-43 to the south. It is also noted that the 
entrance door to the property would be located at the eastern side, along with several 
window openings. This would create a more active elevation fronting the highway which 
would need to be weighed against the partial loss of open space. Officers are also 
mindful that the proposal would make more efficient use of residential land in a 
sustainable location close to Thame Town Centre. 

6.8 This is a relatively unique site within an otherwise rigid pattern of housing and this is 
also not an area designated as worthy of additional protection on the basis of a special 
architectural or landscape character. Given the limited width of the dwelling, at just 
4.2m, and the reasonable green buffer which would still be retained, officers consider, 
on balance, that there not would be a sufficiently harmful impact upon the character of 
the area to warrant a refusal of planning permission. 

6.9 Given the constraints of the site and the reductions made to the scale of the proposal in 
order for officers to support the application, it is essential that the council retains control 
over the future development of the site. Any further extensions to the dwelling, 
particularly to the elevation fronting Hampden Avenue, could have a significant impact 
upon the street scene. Should the committee be minded to grant approval, officers 
further recommend that any permission should be subject to a permitted development 
(PD) restriction over all forms of extensions, roof extensions or outbuildings.  

Neighbouring amenity

6.10 The distances to the properties to the north and east would be more than double the 
10-12m recommendations within the SODG and officers are satisfied that the dwelling 
would not have an adverse impact upon the amenities of the nearest dwellings to the 
south. Although overlooking has been raised as an area of concern, the rear of the 
dwelling would face the front garden and driveway at no. 43. However, this neighbour’s 
private amenity is to the rear of their property and they raise no objection to the 
proposal. The proposed dwelling would primarily impact upon areas which are open-
fronted and publically visible to all neighbours and traffic along Hampden Avenue. Any 
overlooking of the neighbouring gardens and accommodation would be very oblique 
and consistent with this type of built-up urban location.
 

6.11 Officers also consider that there would be an acceptable relationship with the existing 
property. The first floor bedrooms would be largely unaffected and the ground floor has 
been extended via a single storey, glazed extension. There would not be an overly 
harmful impact in terms of loss of light, outlook or privacy. 

Highways Impact

6.12 The proposal would provide adequate off-street parking to both dwellings in accordance 
with the council’s adopted standards set out under Appendix 5 to the SOLP.  Following 
the submission of amended plans, the Local Highways Authority raise no objection to 
the proposal on the basis of highway safety. The liaison officer states that vehicular 
traffic and speeds are likely to be low given the characteristics of the carriageway. On 

Page 104



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee  – 13 March 2017

this basis, officers accept that the proposal is unlikely to have a significant adverse 
impact on the highway network.

Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL)

6.13 This proposal is CIL liable.

7.0 CONCLUSION
7.1 The proposal is in accordance with the relevant Development Plan policies and national 

planning policy.  The proposed development would make more efficient use of land 
within a sustainable location and officers consider, on balance, that the proposal would 
not materially harm to the character and appearance of the site, or the wider area. 
Officers are also satisfied that there would not be a significantly overbearing or 
oppressive impact upon neighbouring amenity and the proposal is considered 
acceptable in terms of its impact upon the local highway network.

8.0 RECOMMENDATION
8.1 That planning permission is granted subject to the following conditions:

1. Commencement within three years of the date of this permission.
2. The development must be implemented in accordance with the approved 

plans.
3. A schedule of materials must be submitted to, and approved in writing by, 

the local planning authority prior to the commencement of development.
4. Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning. 

(General Permitted Development) Order 2015, No development within Part 
1 Class A, B, D, E shall be erected within the curtilage of the site without 
the prior grant of planning permission by the Local Planning Authority.

5. Prior to occupation of the development hereby permitted the proposed 
means of access onto Broadwaters Avenue is to be formed and laid out 
and constructed strictly in accordance with the local highway authority’s 
specifications and all ancillary works specified shall be undertaken

6. The vision splays shown on drawing no. 20160911-03, Rev B shall not be 
obstructed by any object, structure, planting or other material with a 
height exceeding or growing above 0.6 metres as measured from 
carriageway level.

7. Prior to the first occupation of the development hereby approved, the 
parking and turning areas shall be provided in accordance with drawing 
no. 20160911-03, Rev B and shall be constructed, laid out, surfaced, 
drained and completed to be compliant with sustainable drainage (SuDS) 
principles, and shall be retained unobstructed except for the parking of 
vehicles associated with the development at all times. 

Author: Simon Kitson
Contact No: 01235 422600
Email: planning@southoxon.gov.uk 

Page 105

mailto:planning@southoxon.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix A

Page 107

Agenda Item 12



54
39

60

43

BROADWATERS AVENUE
N e w  D r o p p e d  C u r b

MH

MH

Proposed location of bin storage.

Proposed location
of bin storage.

Proposed location
of timber shed for
bike storage etc,
final detail to be
agreed.

5.
0m

2.5m

5.
0m

2.5m

5.
0m

2.5m

5.
0m

2.5m

2.
6m

2.0m

2.0m

Pedestrian route a minimum of 1m
wide, laid in contrasting paving,
detail to be agreed.

Parking spaces to be a minimum
2.5m x 5.0m

Splay to dropped curb to be a
minimum 2x2m

2.8m

4.2m

8.
7m

Kitchen

Sun Room

Living Room

WC

Drawn By

Scale

Drawn Date

Drawing No. Revision

Drawing

Project

Address

 Any discrepancy between drawings and specification to be referred to the Surveyors.
 Scaled Dimensions should not be used.
 All drawings are to be read in conjunction with the Engineer's details & any anomalies are to be

reported to the Contract Administrator.

Client

AmendmentsRev Date

Notes

Mr D Smith & Mr G Virtue

52 Broadwaters Ave
Thame
OX9 2DU

Alterations / Extension to Existing Dwelling
& Construction of New Detached Dwelling

Proposed Site Plan

SEEM Sep '16

As noted A1 Block

20160911-03

Proposed Site Plan
Scale 1:100

Plot 1 (Blue) = 192m²
Property Foot Print = 84m²
Amenity Space = 108m²

Plot 2 (Green) =200m²
Property Foot Print = 37m²
Amenity Space = 163m²

B

A Dimensions and walkway added 2-12-16
B To reflect changes to floor plan 16-01-17

Appendix B

P
age 108



Kitchen

Sun Room

Living Room

WC

In line solar panel

Plain roof tiles to
match the main
house

Facing brickwork to match
the main house.

Bedroom 1
Bedroom 2

Bathroom
54

39

42

60

43

BROADWATERS AVENUE

2.8m

8.
7m

LB

34

25

12

54

39

31

32

HAMPDEN AVENUE
75.1m

42

47

60

13

45

43

BROADWATERS AVENUE

2.8m

8.
7m

Proposed Front Elevation
Scale 1:100

Proposed Ground Floor Plan
Scale 1:50

Drawn By

Scale

Drawn Date

Drawing No. Revision

Drawing

Project

Address

 Any discrepancy between drawings and specification to be referred to the Surveyors.
 Scaled Dimensions should not be used.
 All drawings are to be read in conjunction with the Engineer's details & any anomalies are to be

reported to the Contract Administrator.

Client

AmendmentsRev Date

Notes

Proposed Rear Elevation
Scale 1:100

Proposed Side Elevation
Scale 1:100

Proposed Side Elevation
Scale 1:100

Proposed First Floor Plan
Scale 1:50

Mr D Smith & Mr G Virtue

52 Broadwaters Ave
Thame
OX9 2DU

Alterations / Extension to Existing Dwelling
& Construction of New Detached Dwelling

Proposed Floor Plans, Elevations, Site & Location Plan

SEEM Sep '16

As noted A1 Block

20160911-02

Proposed Site Plan
Scale 1:500

Proposed Location Plan
Scale 1:1250

C

A Revised layout to meet client's requirements. 01/11/2016
B Width & depth 26/12/2016
C Width & depth 16/01/2017
D Roof 27/02/2017

P
age 109



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	 Map
	Howbery Park site map

	7 Land North of Littleworth Road, Benson
	P16/S3611/FUL - Land North of Littleworth Road, Benson - Appendices
	Appendix 1- Location plan
	Appendix 2 - example for flats_A (1)
	Appendix 2 - Site Layout plan rev E
	Appendix 2 - Street scenes (2)
	Appendix 3 -Approved revised masterplan P15 S3923 FUL
	P02 Rev C-Detail Masterplan Phase 1 Alterations
	P04




	8 Bloom Buildings, West End, Cholsey, OX10 9LR
	P16/S4177/FUL - Bloom Buildings, West End, Cholsey - Appendices
	1 Appendix 1
	2 Block Plan Existing drwgno 101
	2 Location Plan drwgno 100 Rev A
	3 Site Plan Proposed drwgno 200 Rev B
	Floor Plans & Elevations Proposed Carbarns drwgno 214
	Floor Plans & Elevations Proposed Type A Housetype drwgno 210
	Floor Plans & Elevations Proposed Type B & C Housetype drwgno 211
	Floor Plans & Elevations Proposed Type D Housetype drwgno 212
	Floor Plans & Elevations Proposed Type E Housetype drwgno 213
	Street Scenes 2 Proposed drwgno 251 REV A
	Street Scenes Proposed drwgno 250 REV A


	9 14 Ilges Lane, Cholsey, OX10 9NX
	P16/S4236/O - 14 Ilges Lane, Cholsey - Appendices
	1 
	2 Block Plan_drwgno. BS336-002_OP1
	Sheets
	001 - Site Location Plan
	002 - Proposed Block Plan
	003 - Proposed Site Plan
	100 - Proposed Ground Floor
	101 - Proposed First Floor
	102 - Proposed Roof Plan
	200 - Proposed Elevation
	201 - Proposed Elevation


	3 Site Plan_proposed_drwgno. BS336-003_OP1
	Sheets
	001 - Site Location Plan
	002 - Proposed Block Plan
	003 - Proposed Site Plan
	100 - Proposed Ground Floor
	101 - Proposed First Floor
	102 - Proposed Roof Plan
	200 - Proposed Elevation
	201 - Proposed Elevation


	4 Elevations_proposed_drwgno. BS336-200_OP1
	Sheets
	001 - Site Location Plan
	002 - Proposed Block Plan
	003 - Proposed Site Plan
	100 - Proposed Ground Floor
	101 - Proposed First Floor
	102 - Proposed Roof Plan
	200 - Proposed Elevation
	201 - Proposed Elevation


	5 Elevations_Proposed_drwgno. BS336-201_OP1
	Sheets
	001 - Site Location Plan
	002 - Proposed Block Plan
	003 - Proposed Site Plan
	100 - Proposed Ground Floor
	101 - Proposed First Floor
	102 - Proposed Roof Plan
	200 - Proposed Elevation
	201 - Proposed Elevation


	6 Floor Plan_ground_proposed_drwgno. BS336-100_OP1
	Sheets
	001 - Site Location Plan
	002 - Proposed Block Plan
	003 - Proposed Site Plan
	100 - Proposed Ground Floor
	101 - Proposed First Floor
	102 - Proposed Roof Plan
	200 - Proposed Elevation
	201 - Proposed Elevation


	7 Floor Plan_first_proposed_drwgno. BS336-101_OP1
	Sheets
	001 - Site Location Plan
	002 - Proposed Block Plan
	003 - Proposed Site Plan
	100 - Proposed Ground Floor
	101 - Proposed First Floor
	102 - Proposed Roof Plan
	200 - Proposed Elevation
	201 - Proposed Elevation


	8 Roof Plan_proposed_drwgno. BS336-102_OP1
	Sheets
	001 - Site Location Plan
	002 - Proposed Block Plan
	003 - Proposed Site Plan
	100 - Proposed Ground Floor
	101 - Proposed First Floor
	102 - Proposed Roof Plan
	200 - Proposed Elevation
	201 - Proposed Elevation


	9 Swept_Path_Analysis_drwgno 8161308_6202 (1)
	10 Swept_Path_Analysis_drwgno 8161308_6203


	10 6 Kentwood Close, Cholsey, OX10 9NQ
	P17/S0043/FUL - 6 Kentwood Close, Cholsey - Appendices
	1 Appendix 1. Location Plan
	1a  Location Plan_drwgno. 01
	2 Block Plan_drwgno. 02
	2a Block Plan Proposed drwgno 06_Rev02
	Sheets and Views
	6 Kentwood Close R14-06 PROP BLOCK A3


	2b Block Plan_proposed_drwgno. 06
	4 Elevations_existing_drwgno. 05
	5 Elevations_proposed_drwgno. 08
	6 Floor Plan_existing_drwgno. 03
	7 Proposed Floor Plans drwgno 07
	Sheets and Views
	6 Kentwood Close R13-07 PROP GROUND A3


	8 Garden Plan_existing_drwgno. 04


	11 78 St Andrews Road, Henley on Thames, RG9 1JE
	P17/S0279/HH - 78 St Andrews Road, Henley on Thames - Appendices
	1 Full page photo
	2 Location & Block Plan Dwg_NSAH-PL-099A
	Sheets and Views
	PL-099


	3 Elevations Existing Dwg_NSAH-PL-101
	Sheets and Views
	PL-101


	4 Elevations Proposed Dwg_NSAH-PL-111
	Sheets and Views
	PL-111


	5 Floor Plans Existing Dwg_NSAH-PL-100
	Sheets and Views
	PL-100


	6 Floor Plans Proposed Dwg_NSAH-PL-110
	Sheets and Views
	PL-110




	12 Land adjacent to 52 Broadwaters Avenue, Thame, OX9 2DU
	P16/S3682/FUL - Land adjacent to 52 Broadwaters Avenue, Thame - Appendices
	1 Full page photo
	2 Site Plan Proposed drwgno 20160911-03 REV B
	2a Broadwaters Ave Proposed REV D (1)





